SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS MINUTES

September 15, 2016

The South Carolina Commission on Disabilities and Special Needs met on Thursday, September 15, 2016, at 10:00 a.m. at the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Central Office, 3440 Harden Street Extension, Columbia, South Carolina.

The following were in attendance:

COMMISSION

Present:

Bill Danielson, Chairman
Eva Ravenel, Vice Chairman
Gary Lemel – Secretary
Mary Ellen Barnwell
Sam Broughton, Ph.D.
Katie Fayssoux – Via Teleconference
Vicki Thompson

DDSN Administrative Staff

Dr. Buscemi, State Director; Mr. David Goodell, Associate State Director, Operations; Mrs. Susan Beck, Associate State Director, Policy; Mr. Tom Waring, Associate State Director, Administration; Mrs. Tana Vanderbilt, General Counsel (For other Administrative Staff see Attachment 1 – Sign In Sheet).

Guests

(See Attachment 1 Sign-In Sheet)

Coastal Regional Center (via videoconference)

Georgetown County DSN Board

<u>Pee Dee Regional Center (via videoconference)</u> (See Attachment 4 Sign-In Sheet)

Pickens County DSN Board (via videoconference)

Whitten Regional Center (via videoconference) (See Attachment 6 Sign-In Sheet)

York County DSN Board (via videoconference)

Jasper County DSN Board (via videoconference)

September 15, 2016 DDSN Commission Meeting Minutes Page 2 of 6

News Release of Meeting

Chairperson Danielson called the meeting to order and Commissioner Lemel read a statement of announcement about the meeting that was mailed to the appropriate media, interested persons, and posted at the Central Office and on the website in accordance with the Freedom of Information Act.

Adoption of the Agenda

The Commission adopted the September 15, 2016 Meeting Agenda by unanimous consent. (Attachment A)

Invocation

Commissioner Gary Lemel gave the invocation.

Approval of the Minutes of the August 18, 2016 Commission Meetings

The Commission approved the August 18, 2016 Commission Meeting minutes with a change by unanimous consent.

Public Input

The following individuals spoke during Public Input: Ms. Elaine Thena, Ms. Deborah McPherson, Mr. Ed Paxton, Ms. Melissa Hallback, and Ms. Carolyn O'Connell.

Committee Assignments

Chairperson Danielson appointed Commissioners Lemel, Fayssoux and Thompson to the Finance Audit Committee with Commissioner Lemel serving as Chairman. He appointed Commissioners Ravenel, Barnwell and Broughton to the Policy Committee with Commissioner Ravenel serving as Chairperson.

Commissioners' Update

Commissioners Ravenel, Lemel, Thompson and Broughton spoke of events in their districts.

Office of Inspector General Report

Mr. Patrick Maley, Inspector General, SC Office of Inspector General, gave a detailed overview of the Review of Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation Allegations Involving SC Mentor, a Private Provider for the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs. He spoked of the 170 allegations that were reviewed and stated the allegations were significantly high for the number of individuals Mentor serves; however, they were all non-criminal. Mr. Maley stated what is measured is very complex, however, the agency needs to shift audit focus. Discussion followed. Dr. Buscemi thanked Mr. Maley and

September 15, 2016 DDSN Commission Meeting Minutes Page 3 of 6

his staff for taking part in the process and stated all recommendations of the review will be implemented and the system will be stronger as a result. (Attachment B)

State Director's Report

Dr. Buscemi reported on the following:

BabyNet Program – Governor Haley announced yesterday that she is moving the program from First Steps to DHHS as the lead agency. The transition will start immediately; however, the move will be effective July 1, 2017. DDSN provides the majority of the BabyNet program services through the provider network. We do not expect this to negatively impact DDSN and do expect the move to create improvements.

Intake – DDSN was notified by the State Purchasing Office that all the bids for the current RFP were not going to be approved by the end of the month. This will mean State Purchasing will extend the current agreements and extend the time to award for at least 30 days. This means the new service of Intake cannot be decentralized until the new RFPs are awarded. The current projected date for decentralized intake is now November 1st, but that could move as well. Centralized Intake will continue until the RFP awards are completed. The training and certification for the new Intake will be available early October. This will give providers ample time to be trained prior to the new service of Intake. A memo will go out this week announcing the delay in the RFP and the following week additional information will be sent out about accessing training and preparing for the new process.

Screening – Starting October 2nd USC-CDR will no longer perform screening. The phone line will be manned and answered by live personnel between 8:30 a.m. – 5:00 p.m. on all state business days. The long-term plan is to have a call center with possibility of longer hours. We will have to do an RFP, so it could be six to nine months down the road. The online screening tool is also scheduled to go live in October. This will allow local providers to assist someone who walks in their door to go through screening and not have to call a centralized phone number. This will also allow individuals to go through screening from their home computer.

Administrative Contract – No real update, still waiting on CMS approval.

ASD State Plan Amendment – DHHS is working on a plan submission with a possible July 2017 implementation date. DDSN is expected to be the operational entity for the ASD State Plan.

Conflict Free Case Management – DHHS received technical assistance from CMS which ended today. We are looking at possible models moving forward based on information from the technical assistance team. DDSN is to begin responsibility for service authorization to remove that conflict. DDSN will need

September 15, 2016 DDSN Commission Meeting Minutes Page 4 of 6

to work with stakeholders to operationalize and determine the best path forward. We are looking at implementing for first half of 2017.

Budget Request FY 201-2018

Mr. Waring presented the budget item requests that will be submitted to the Governor by September 30, 2017. (Attachment C). The list was derived from discussions with consumers, families, advocates, DSN boards and private providers and placed into the priority tiers based on the Commission's discussion at the August work session. Items reflect prior agency budget request priorities, items related to identified strategic planning goals, and increased funding needs due to recent actions made by the agency or outside regulatory agencies. Discussion followed. On Motion of Commissioner Broughton, seconded and passed, the Commission approved the prioritized FY 2017-2018 Budget Request as follows:

- 1. Workforce Development Wage Increase/Department of Labor
- 2. Waiting List Reduction Efforts/Aging Caregivers
- 3. Crisis Management/High Management-Forensic Residential Services
- 4. Transition of Individuals from Regional Centers to the Community
- 5. Community ICF/IID Rates
- 6. Intake Costs Related to System Changes/Training/Provider Oversight
- 7. Greenwood Genetic Center
- 8. Post-Acute Rehabilitation
- 9. Federal Requirements Conflict Free Management/Employment and Individualized Day Service Opportunities

Three Percent General Fund Budget Reduction Analysis

Mr. Waring spoke of the Governor's request for each state agency to conduct a General Fund reduction analysis to identify areas to be reduced or eliminated if the agency receives a three percent General Fund budget reduction based on each agency's FY 2016-2017 budget appropriation. One-time expenditures from the FY 2016-2017 budget cannot be considered for the purpose of this analysis. Mr. Waring presented a list of options from different areas within DDSN's statewide system that can be reduced in part or in whole to meet the required three percent state funding reduction analysis. Discussion followed. On motion of Commissioner Thompson, seconded and passed, the Commission approved staff recommendation of the Three Percent General Fund Budget Reduction Analysis utilizing the lowest level of each of the 17 areas identified within the exception for State Funded Case Management where the full \$700,000 was included in the \$7.2 million plan. (Attachment D)

Spending Plan

Mr. Waring presented information on the Spending Plan FY 2016-2017 requesting Commission approval. Discussion followed. Commissioner Lemel moved to accept the Spending Plan as presented. The motion was seconded.

September 15, 2016 DDSN Commission Meeting Minutes Page 5 of 6

Discussion followed. As a result, Commissioner Lemel amended the motion to accept the Spending Plan one-time funds to include in the \$1,200,000 for Workforce Initiatives that providers can also use at their discretion for the impact of the new DOL overtime law that goes into effect December 1, 2016. The amended motion was seconded and passed. (Attachment E)

Waiting List Reduction Efforts

Mrs. Beck presented an update on the Waiting List Reduction Efforts. (Attachment F)

<u>Governor's Proclamation – Direct Support Professionals</u>

Dr. Buscemi shared the Governor's Proclamation acknowledging September 11-17, 2016 as Direct Support Professionals Recognition Week. Dr. Buscemi stated the proclamation was sent out to the provider network. (Attachment G).

Medication Technician Certification Training

Dr. Buscemi stated the agency has increased oversight monitoring and found that all providers were not doing the same thing regarding medication technician certification training. She spoke of the draft directive that recently went out to the provider network for comments. Discussion followed. (Attachment H)

Pee Dee Center Roof Replacements

Mr. Waring presented information for Commission approval on the bid for roof repairs to the Pecan Dorms and other support buildings of the Pee Dee Center. Commissioner Lemel motioned to accept the Pee Dee Roof Replacements bid as presented. The motion was seconded and passed. (Attachment I)

FEMA Grant

Mr. Waring stated DDSN has been awarded federal grant funds to install emergency generators at 23 DDSN and Provider sites around the state. This grant project is a portion of the FEMA program resulting from the 2014 severe winter ice storm. Commissioner Thompson motioned to approve to receive FEMA grant funds totaling \$1,410,974.00 to install emergency generators at 23 DDSN provider sites around the state. The motion was seconded and passed. (Attachment J)

Financial Reports

Mr. Waring shared an analysis of expenditures of the Regional Centers from July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016. He also gave an overview of the agency's financial activity through August 31, 2016 and the agency's current

September 15, 2016 DDSN Commission Meeting Minutes Page 6 of 6

financial position. The agency's operating cash balance as of August 31, 2016 is \$183,932,451. Also, a SCEIS report reflecting budget verses actual expenditures through August 2016 was provided. (Attachment K)

Executive Session

Commission Lemel moved to go into executive session to discuss an employment matter and receipt of legal advice. The motion was seconded and passed.

Enter into Public Session

The Commission entered into Public Session. It was noted that no action was taken in the Executive Session.

Commissioner Lemel moved to adopt the State Director's Planning Document as annotated. The motion was seconded and passed.

Next Regular Meeting

October 20, 2016

Submitted by

Sandra J. Delanev

Approved:

Commissioner Gary Lemel

Secretary

SC COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS

Commission Meeting September 15, 2016

Attachment 1

Guest Registration Sheet

(PLEASE PRINT	Name and Organization
1. Lisa Weeks	
2. Edward H. Pay tow	
3. Deboern Masherson	
4. Elaine M. Thena	Pickens Co & HSP
5. Ben Oires	DDSM
6. Caroline Overcook	SIG
7. Chuck Norman	DOSN
8. Tim Smith	Corporallo News
9. Jeany C-Mize	Oconer DSN
10. Jury Johnson	Babcocic
11. Julie Brann	4
12. Lardy Olmnele	Dreewille County
13. Katherine Grant	11
14. Ann Balton	SCROW
15. GAVIN JACKSON	Post are Covier
16. Jac White	Charokee County DSNB
17. Phil Clarkson	BIASC
18. Jenniter Van Cleave	LGOA
19. DEAN REOD	COLLETTICOUNTS BASN
20. Zanobia M. Corley	KCBDSN

SC COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS

Commission Meeting

September 15, 2016

Guest Registration Sheet

(PLEASE PRINT)	Name and Organization
21. Thoyd Waren	SCDSNB
22. Melissa Hallbick	Bobcock
23. Out Mills	056
24. Lindsey Daniel	Community Ophons
25. KATHKEEN RUSERIS	WHITTEN CENTER PARGUTS CUI
27. Melissa Ritter	SC POSN
28. Ashleigh Holland	WIS-TV
29. Marty Rawls	DDSN
30. Julie Cook	DHHS
31. Leuis Confer	EBO
32. Legla	DD Corner (
33. Bol Janes	Menberry DSNB
34. Suzanne Hyman	Project 40PE Foundation
35. Nana beloviele	P+A
36. Tyler Rex	Oconee Anderson DSD
37. Mike Kei+A/	Marion-Dillon DSN
38. TOTEN PARKE	ABDSVB
39. Margie Williamson	The Arc of SC
40. 531/np /A(DB/	DOSNI
41. Joque Davis	BIASC

43 Dine Epply SCSC/4
44 Killy Eifert St OHHS
45 Patricker Ordinate
46 May Barbara Ruschopski Midland Center Family
47 Lieph Juntary Siken To Council - Parent

SC COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS

Commission Meeting September 15, 2016

Attachment 4

Guest Registration Sheet

(1	PLEASE PRINT) Name and Organization
1	Ruth Blocker, Darlington County DSN Board
2	Deborah Smith, District II - DDSN
3	Susan L. John, Horry a. DSN.
4	Ryan Way Clarenden County DSN
8	
9	
10	
11.	
12	
13	
14.	
15.	
16	
17.	
18.	
19	
20	

SC COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS Commission Meeting September 15, 2016

Guest Registration Sheet

PAT FAGAM	DOSW DAT. I OFFICE
John King	DAZK
Jimmy BURTON	BURTON CENT
Jasa Taverner	Chrefous In
Maryo Nabors	ChretousIn
P	

SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION ON DISABILITIES AND SPECIAL NEEDS

AGENDA

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs 3440 Harden Street Extension Conference Room 251 Columbia, South Carolina

	September 15, 2016	10:00 A.M.
1.	Call to Order	Chairman Bill Danielson
2.	Welcome - Notice of Meeting Statement	Commissioner Gary Lemel
3.	Invocation	Commissioner Gary Lemel
4.	Introduction of Guests	
5.	Adoption of Agenda	
6.	Approval of the Minutes of the August 18, 2016 Cor	nmission Meeting
7.	Public Input	
8.	Commissioners' Update	Commissioners
9.	Office of Inspector General Report	Mr. Patrick Maley Inspector General C Office of Inspector General
10.	State Director's Report	Dr. Beverly Buscemi
11.	Business:	
	 A. Budget Request FY 2017-2018 B. Three Percent General Fund Budget Reduction A C. Spending Plan D. Waiting List Reduction Efforts E. Governor's Proclamation - Direct Support Profess F. Medication Technician Certification Training G. Pee Dee Center Roof Replacements H. FEMA Grant I. Financial Reports 	Mr. Tom Waring Ms. Susan Beck
12.	Executive Session	
13.	State Director Evaluation Planning Document	Chairman Bill Danielson
14.	Next Regular Meeting (October 20, 2016)	

Adjournment

15.

Office of the Inspector General

Patrick J. Maley



Review of Abuse, Neglect, and Exploitation Allegations Involving SC Mentor, a Private Provider for the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs

File# 2016-1694-I September 2016

I. <u>Executive Summary</u>

This review was requested by the Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) for an independent review of allegations of abuse, neglect, and exploitation (ANE) at SC Mentor (Mentor), a private provider of residential services for DDSN consumers. Factors predicating the State Inspector General (SIG) accepting this review included derogatory media reporting of ANE incidents at Mentor; concerns from Commissioners and vulnerable adult advocates; and an emerging atmosphere of distrust in DDSN's oversight of ANE allegations at Mentor in particular, as well as indirectly Mentor's standard of care provided to its consumers.

During the period under review (7/1/2013 – 3/31/2016), Mentor had proportionately higher ANE allegations (170) and sustained criminal incidents (5) than peer facilities, which could not be fully explained by Mentor's consumers having more challenging behaviors to manage. The 170 ANE incident allegations were alarming for a population of 200 consumers in 74 residential facilities over nearly a three year period. However, an analysis of these 170 incidents did not indicate systemic abuse towards consumers inasmuch as the majority of the ANE reporting system contained allegations more akin to staff/facility performance issues and the vast majority of all allegations were unsustained by independent investigations.

To facilitate stakeholders' ability to assess ANE allegations in the future, DDSN should expand the level of detail in its ANE reporting, which currently only reports total allegations and sustained criminal incidents. However, this first requires the ANE process's multi-agency participants to expand its ANE categorization system to better discern the degree of significance of the allegations. For example, the 170 Mentor allegations could be categorized by those with a potential criminal nexus (71 allegations; five substantiated) and staff/facility performance issues (99 allegations; 15 substantiated). When aggregated, Mentor's 170 alleged ANE incidents yielded 150 (88%) unsustained by independent investigations; 15 (9%) sustained staff/facility performance issues (9%); and five (3%) sustained criminal charges against staff.

Many factors can contribute to having a disproportional number of ANE allegations, many of which do not correlate with a provider's performance. However, there is no ambiguity applying the criminal legal standard of probable cause to every provider alleged incident. Despite only 3% of Mentor's alleged incidents resulted in criminal charges to staff, this 3% was six times greater than expected when compared to peer providers. Mentor served 5% of a residential community, yet had 29% of this population's criminally sustained incidents (5) over the audit period. Of the four incidents with sufficient documentation, three (75%) indicated staff used abuse (hitting, pushing, and verbal) as a premeditated tool to gain compliance, rather than losing their temper in response to a consumer's behavior. A single incident with staff showing up for their shift apparently intent on using abusive techniques to manage their consumers is a major failure.

The ANE process is overall effective with many well engineered process attributes. However, the ANE process's effectiveness is being undermined by deficient oversight procedures. Of the 170 incidents, 70 (41%) took in excess of 45 days to resolve and 19 (11%) incidents were without resolution after being open at least 90 days, often much longer, at the time of the audit. Mentor's follow-up on these 19 unresolved cases during the SIG review identified two additional incidents where Mentor staff was criminally charged.

The direction to reduce the probability of staff abusing consumers, whether reactionary or premeditated, is to examine the factors impacting this issue, such as staff training, hiring, supervision, and improving consumers' behaviors. In many ways, the ANE issue underpinning this review was likely a symptom of a broader issue—Mentor contract performance. Looking at Mentor's overall operations, both currently and over the past eight years, it is clear there was not an obvious single solution based on a pattern of performing below standards on a consistent basis as illustrated by:

- Mentor's annual quality assurance review scores over the past eight years were always below the statewide average by, on average, 16%;
- In 2010, DDSN placed Mentor in a freeze from adding new consumers based on performance deficiencies described as, "this signifies significant systemic problems throughout your organization;"
- In 2011, a second freeze was described as, "Mentor has failed to ensure the stability of its improvements signifying that real systemic change did not take place;" and
- In March 2016, a third freeze was placed on Mentor, which is still ongoing, best illustrated by its nearly complete failure to implement consumer behavioral support plans along with strong indications implementing consumer residential service plans were also weak. The third freeze analysis noted Mentor had positive attributes in terms of physical facilities, managing consumers' drugs, and even consumer appreciation for staff.
- In all three freezes, DDSN identified a pattern of Mentor consumers not being sufficiently challenged to engage the world outside of the home with employment, day service, or other interests.

Mentor's weaknesses seemed to be in the consumer training and development areas, which Mentor was contractually required to provide. Rather than looking for piecemeal solutions to the ANE issues, Mentor needs to address its systemic pattern of operational deficiencies, which then increases the probability of enhancing the residential home environment impacting the ANE issues in a positive manner.

From a DDSN oversight perspective, its management control systems have been sufficiently "blinking red" to identify Mentor as having problems, which did result in three performance related freezes to prevent Mentor from adding new consumers over the past six years. However, despite its quality assurance reviews noting Mentor constantly trailing its peer providers, it was really only measuring minimum contract compliance indicators correlating more with deficient administrative capabilities. These reviews were not able to truly get to the heart of Mentor's ineffectiveness issues in the quality of consumer training/development. DDSN needs to move away from its predictable compliance audits towards quality audits of front line services to consumers in a less predictable pattern to motivate providers to be audit ready "every day." These quality measures, along with corresponding audit measurement techniques, need to be explicitly set forth in upcoming contract renewals, along with incrementally rolling out the private sector concept of performance incentives and penalties, as well as a willingness to use these tools. DDSN can't micromanage a provider to put forth the right combination of leadership, management, and resources for a successful operation; however, it can hold providers accountable, as well as motivate providers, through measuring outcomes with basic audit sample testing of residential and behavioral support plans' effectiveness.

The ANE process's multi-agency participants should permit, if not require, DDSN to administratively review bad ANE outcomes, whether criminally charged or not, after law enforcement completes its criminal investigation. Law enforcement fixes individual criminal accountability; DDSN should be allowed to conduct a review to fix provider administrative contract accountability, if warranted. This provides an opportune time to assess providers' operational capabilities to reduce the risk of bad outcomes, with particular attention if pre-existing risks developed were being proactively addressed prior to the bad outcome.

The long-term solution is for DDSN to shift provider contract monitoring from a minimum contract compliance reviews towards a risk-based approach emphasizing outcome measures to hold a provider accountable. Weak contract expectations and contract monitoring more focused on administrative indicators rather than outcome performance, creates a fertile environment for complacent provider performance, or worse.

Table of Contents

		<u>Page</u>
I.	Executive Summary	1
II.	Background	4
	A. Predicate	
	B. Scope & Observations	
	C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs (DDSN) Overview	
	D. SC Mentor Overview	5
	E. Previous Reviews of DDSN's Abuse, Neglect & Exploitation (ANE) Program .	5
III.	DDSN's ANE Program	5
	A. ANE Process Workflow	5
	B. Analysis of ANE Complaints for Period 7/1/2013 – 3/31/2016	7
	1. Methodology of Analysis	7
	2. ANE Incident Data Analysis	
	3. Observations of ANE Incidents	
	a. DDSN Classification of Allegations	12
	b. Low Risk of Under-Reporting ANE Allegations	
	c. Elongated Reporting Timeframes by Independent Investigators	
	d. Unresolved Investigations for Elongated Periods of Time	
	e. A Few Victims Generate a Disproportional Number of Allegations	
	f. Mentor Takes Administrative Action for Policy Violations	
	C. SLED – Vulnerable Adult Investigative Unit Observations	14
	D. Advocacy Groups' Observations	
	E. Other DDSN Providers of Comparative Data & Observations	
IV.	Other DDSN Management Controls Monitoring SC Mentor	15
	A. DDSN "Freeze" on SC Mentor	15
	B. Quality Assurance Review	17
	C. Licensing Reviews	19
	D. Critical Incident & Death Reporting	19
	E. Other IssueFinancial Reimbursement for High Management Consumers	20
V.	Way Forward	21
VI.	Findings & Recommendations	22

II. Background

A. Predicate

This review was requested by the DDSN for an independent review of allegations of ANE at Mentor, a private provider of residential services for DDSN consumers. Factors predicating the SIG accepting this review included derogatory media reporting of ANE incidents at Mentor; concerns from Commissioners and vulnerable adult advocates; and an emerging atmosphere of distrust in DDSN's oversight of ANE allegations at Mentor in particular, as well as indirectly Mentor's standard of care provided to its consumers.

B. Scope & Objectives

This review's scope and objectives were:

- Determine if DDSN has adequate management controls to monitor ANE allegations and resolutions at Mentor facilities, as well as standard of consumer care;
- Determine the risk of Mentor under-reporting ANE allegations; and
- Determine if DDSN takes reasonable administrative steps based on monitoring results to ensure Mentor is compliant with its contract to provide a safe residential and training environment for consumers.

Reviews by the SIG are conducted in accordance with professional standards set forth by the Association of Inspectors General, often referred to as the "Green Book."

C. Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Overview

DDSN provides services and programs for the treatment and training of persons with intellectual disability, autism, head injuries, and spinal cord injuries. The agency coordinates with other state and local agencies, county DDSN boards, and private providers to serve approximately 36,000 individual consumers. Of these consumers, 87% live at home and 13% live in a variety of out-of-home residential care.

Consumers are placed in out-of-home residential care based on their assessed level of need. There are six models on the spectrum of care based on consumer needs, which are listed below from the most to the least intense level of care:

- <u>Intermediate Care Facilities</u>: These are residential centers with the highest regulated and structural environments for consumers.
- <u>Community Residential Care Facilities (CRCF)</u>: These facilities provide supervised living arrangements in a residential setting, which are licensed by DHEC.
- Community Training Home-II (CTH-II): A home environment in the community where no more than four individuals live. Care, supervision, and skills training are provided by qualified and trained staff 24 hours/day in accordance with the resident's service plan. Within this model, 3% are designated "high management" consumers, which justify a higher daily contract rate to offset providers' additional costs to manage this population.

- <u>Community Training Home-I (CTH-I)</u>: Personalized care, supervision, and individualized training provided, in accordance with the resident's service plan, with generally no more than two individuals living in a licensed support provider's home.
- <u>Community Inclusive Residential Services (CIRS)</u>: Promotes the development and independence of individuals with disabilities in homes leased by the individuals. A customized plan is developed to transition the individual from a 24 hour setting to a semi-independent living arrangement.
- <u>Supported Living Program-I & II</u>: Supports are provided by qualified and trained staff to adults who need intermittent supervision and supports. Staff are available on-site or in a location from which they can be on-site within 15 minutes of being called 24 hours a day.

DDSN's goal is to place the consumer in the least intensive level of care required, followed by skills training to move them towards independence. More independence relates both to a higher quality of life for the consumer and lower expenses to the taxpayer as the cost for supervision is reduced as care is stepped down.

D. SC Mentor Overview

Mentor is a national private provider under contract with DDSN to provide CTH-I and CTH-II residences. At the time of this review, Mentor operated 74 residences serving 208 consumers in CTH Is (16) and CTH IIs (192). Additionally, 120 (58%) consumers were classified as "high management (HM)," which represented 81% of all HM consumers in the residential community setting. Interviewees consistently noted Mentor served a very difficult population, with a number of consumers having behavioral problems needing special behavior support plans to address their needs. Depending upon the needs of the consumers in CTH IIs, staff ratios range from 1:2 to 1:4.

Mentor's FY17 contract budget is \$17.2 million, of which \$16.4 million is to serve a population of approximately 200 consumers in CTH I & II residences. Of this \$16.4 million, \$10.1 million is budgeted for HM consumers and \$6.3 million for QPL (qualified provider list) consumers. Mentor also receives \$787,000 for therapeutic foster homes.

E. Previous Reviews of DDSN's Abuse, Neglect & Exploitation Program

The South Carolina Legislative Audit Council (LAC) audited DDSN in both 2008 and in 2014. The 2008 audit touched on the ANE process and the 2014 audit reviewed this process in-depth. The 2014 report noted, "We found no substantive issue with DDSN's investigative process; however, we found an inconsistency in what types of allegations the State Law Enforcement Division's Vulnerable Adult Investigative Unit receives and what it refers to various investigative agencies." Additionally, in 2014, DDSN hired the Public Consulting Group to review its business practices, which yielded minor recommendations to improve the ANE system.

III. DDSN's ANE Program

A. ANE Process Workflow

State law mandates reporting by caregivers within 24 hours of a suspected ANE incident, but an ANE allegation may also be reported by any witness or victim. All reports are funneled into the South Carolina Law Enforcement Division's Vulnerable Adult Investigations Unit (SLED-VAIU) through a 24 hour a day, toll-free number. Failure to report may subject a caregiver to a criminal charge. In addition to notifying SLED-VAIU,

reporting caregivers must also alert their supervisor and DDSN. When named as a subject of an ANE allegation, State law requires a caregiver be immediately placed on administrative leave without pay. Allegations are assessed by the SLED-VAIU, and then routed to the appropriate independent investigating entity based primarily on the allegation's potential nexus to criminal liability. SLED-VAIU then notifies DDSN and the provider of the investigative entity assigned the allegation for resolution. The independent investigative entities are:

- SLED-VAIU for allegations in DDSN Intermediate Care Facilities;
- Local law enforcement (LLE) for allegations with a potential criminal nexus primarily in residential settings;
- Long-Term Care Ombudsman's Office (LTCO) for allegations without a criminal nexus occurring within residential settings; and
- Department of Social Services-Adult Protective Services (DSS-APS) for allegations involving DDSN consumers occurring outside of the residential/facility settings.

It should be noted SLED-VAIU will record an allegation as "for information only" when it determines an allegation lacks a sufficient basis to warrant investigation or complainant has a known pattern of false allegations. After referring an allegation to the appropriate investigative entity, SLED-VAIU conducts no further follow up, absent unusual circumstances, nor does it receive results of referred investigations.

In addition to the external independent investigations, the caregiver provider conducts its own internal administrative review. In cases with a criminal nexus investigated by a LLE, the provider's actions are very limited to only reporting the facts from the initial allegation and copies of relevant records, such as log books, which are sent to DDSN. For all allegations without a criminal nexus investigated by the LTCO or DSS-APS, as well as "for information only" reports taken by SLED, the provider conducts a parallel, but separate, administrative review of the entire incident, to include witness interviews. A final report is submitted to DDSN within 10 business days.

Providers submit their administrative investigative reports to DDSN through a web portal. The independent investigators formally submit reports to the provider, which upload the reports through the web portal. DDSN reviews final reports for adequate and complete information before closing the allegation. During the audit period, DDSN rejected 31 of the 160 incident review reports initially submitted due to missing information; of the 31 rejected, six were rejected a second time before they were deemed adequate. DDSN tracks ANE allegations for its consumers and provides statistical data on statewide totals and creates a performance profile for each provider of services. DDSN had a more robust ability to capture audits and incidents in an electronic format for retrieval, analytical reporting, and generate automated reporting than other State agencies regulating providers previously reviewed by the SIG.

Providers are tasked with following up with the independent review to obtain final investigative reports regarding ANE allegations. In most cases, the named caregiver in an allegation cannot return to duty until the case is closed by the independent investigator.

It is critical to understand the ANE process is governed by State statute, and no one State agency "owns" this process. Rather, multiple State agencies cooperate to execute the ANE process as legislatively intended. As a result, any modifications to the ANE process must be agreed upon by the involved agencies if the latitude exists within the statute, or possibly requires legislative modifications to the statute.

B. Analysis of ANE Allegations for Period 7/1/2013 – 3/31/2016

1. Methodology of Analysis

The SIG reviewed all ANE allegations involving Mentor for FY14, FY15, and the first three quarters of FY16 (7/1/2013 - 3/31/16). Mentor had 233 ANE allegations. The 233 allegations pertained to 170 individual incidents. A single incident can generate multiple allegations due to a practice of opening a separate allegation for each consumer potentially involved.

In order to understand the characteristics of this 170 incident population, each incident was initially analyzed and placed into two main categories: an allegation with a potential criminal nexus; and an allegation with no criminal nexus and generally related to complaints about staff performance or a facility's physical condition. Within each of the two main categories, the population was further subcategorized as follows:

- Allegation with a potential criminal nexus:
 - o physical assault;
 - o non-physical neglect or exploitation; and
 - o incident occurred outside of Mentor's residential setting and control, such as during a family home visit or attending another provider's day center.
- Allegation with no criminal nexus and related to complaints about staff performance or the facility's physical condition:
 - o unknown bruises/injuries of a non-substantial nature;
 - o facility physical condition;
 - o lack of professional conduct by staff;
 - o restraint/self-defense; and
 - o incident occurred outside of Mentor's residential setting and control, such as during family home visit or attending another provider's day center.

The ANE process labels allegations with a criminal nexus resulting in a criminal charge as "substantiated," while using a different term, "verified," in non-criminal investigations. The SIG used "sustained," or "unsustained," rather than substantiated or verified to simplify the terminology, as well as due to "verified" being used in circumstances creating potential misleading results. Sometimes the "verified" meant the allegation occurred with sufficient evidence to fix accountability to a caregiver. Sometimes the "verified" only meant the allegation occurred without evidence to fix accountability, such as a nominal bruise from an unknown origin being verified as existing without developing any information as to how it occurred. This second type of "verified" caused a perception of wrongdoing by the provider and staff, when in fact there was no evidence to discern if the incident was staff poor performance or a consumer accident. As a result, the SIG determined these type of allegations to be unsustained. Additionally, when a non-criminal allegation was "verified" or "sustained" involving a Mentor consumer but the subject was another caregiver, such as an ambulance driver or daycare provider, these allegations were considered by this review as unsustained towards Mentor due to its complete lack of involvement.

2. ANE Incident Data Analysis

The 170 incidents were analyzed by reviewing DDSN incident files. Audit judgment was required to categorize each incident with data available. Inasmuch as a key factor in generating this SIG review was a level of mistrust of DDSN providing ANE incident data, the SIG's spreadsheet summarizing its review is being made

available for stakeholder detail review at the following Internet link: http://oig.sc.gov/Documents/SIG-ANE-Review-of-SC-Mentor-Incidents.pdf. This will allow interested stakeholders to independently categorize incidents in their own frameworks to understand the characteristics of this ANE incident population. A summary of the SIG's analysis of ANE incidents during the audit period is contained in the below table:

SIG Analysis of 170 ANE Incidents at Mentor for Period 7/01/2013 to 3/31/2016

Status	No Nexus	to Crimina	ıl liability-pe custome		Criminal nexus to allegation						
	Unknown Injury	Facility- Standard of Care	Lack of Professional Conduct	Self- Defense/ Restraint	Different Provider	Subtotal	Non Physical Asault, Neglect, Exploitation	Assault	Different Provider	Subtotal	Totals
Incidents	39	10	25	19	6	99	16	53	2	71	170
Sustained	0	4	9	2	0	15	1	4	0	5	20
Not sustained	36	6	14	17	5	78	15	46	2	63	141
Open Cases-significant	1	0	0	0	0	1	0	2	0	2	3
Open Cases-Not significant	2	0	2	0	1	5	0	1	0	1	6
Totals	39	10	25	19	6	99	16	53	2	71	170

Of the 170 incidents, there were 71 (41%) incidents with the initial allegation having a potential criminal nexus and 99 (59%) without a potential criminal nexus more akin to the performance of staff and facility conditions. Five incidents (3%) resulted in six Mentor staff members being criminally charged. Fifteen incidents (9%) resulted in non-criminal allegation being sustained by an independent investigation. At the time of the analysis, 19 incident cases (11%) were pending longer than 90 days, often much longer, without an investigative resolution. Mentor was requested to update the DDSN incident file, to include re-contacting the independent investigator. Ten of these cases were subsequently closed with an investigative update resolving the allegation, of which two identified new incidents of Mentor staff being criminally charged. Nine incident cases are still open, with three incidents with a criminal nexus having potential significant issues without resolution.

During the audit period, Mentor had 5% of the entire consumers in the community residential training home population, while having 20% of the allegations and 29% of the criminally sustained incidents. Many factors can contribute to having a disproportional number of allegations, such as a potential management emphasis to over-report; staff skill level in managing consumers; and degree of difficulty in consumers' behavior issues being managed. DDSN and Mentor both pointed out Mentor served a consumer population with more difficult behavior issues to manage, as illustrated by 58% of its consumers were designated as HM (42% QPL) and Mentor served 81% of all HM consumers in the community residential training home population. This certainly could be a contributing factor. However, examination of Mentor's 170 incidents during the audit period, 60% were in HM homes (40% QPL), which indicated a proportional distribution of these high number of allegations between Mentor's HM and QPL sub-populations.

To better understand the characteristics of the 170 incident population under review, case vignettes are presented below for the five incidents involving Mentor staff criminally charged; three incidents with a potential criminal nexus still pending; one significant event not recorded as an ANE allegation; and the 15 sustained incidents with no criminal nexus and generally performance related.

<u>Incidents Involving Mentor Staff Criminally Charged (5)</u>

- <u>Case# 2014ANE 0194</u>: Caller identified victim consumer with two black eyes, bruised nose, and a scar
 on his jaw allegedly caused by abusive staff, as well as staff allegedly falsified reports claiming the
 injuries were caused by a fall in the shower. Investigation determined a staff member hit multiple
 consumers on multiple occasions, to include the use of pepper spray, which led to criminally charging
 one staff member with three counts of abuse of a vulnerable adult. A second staff member was
 criminally charged with two counts of failing to report abuse.
- <u>Case# 2016ANE 0004</u>: An anonymous caller alleged a staff member pushed a consumer into a wall. Investigation determined a staff member had a pattern of yelling, intimidating, and pushing consumers leading to physical bruising, which resulted in two counts of abuse of a vulnerable adult.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE 0322</u>: A co-worker reported a staff member brought a taser to work, which he threatened to use on consumers to gain compliance. Investigation resulted in staff member being criminally charged with abuse.
- <u>Case# 2016ANE0009</u>: Victim consumer reported staff pushed him resulting in victim hitting the stove causing hot water to spill and burn his arm. Staff member charged with assault & battery, 3rd degree.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE0394</u>: Anonymous tip alleged staff members "jumped" a consumer causing a broken hip. One staff member arrested for unlawful neglect and abuse of a vulnerable adult; the file failed to denote details of incident.

<u>Incidents with a Potential Criminal Nexus Still Pending (3)</u>

- <u>Case# 2015ANE0381</u>: Staff reported consumer initiated physical altercation with another staff member. After the altercation ended and consumer was still on the floor, the staff member stomped on consumer's face and spit on her as the staff left the residence. Staff terminated on 9/25/2015. Only law enforcement report to date was welfare check shortly after incident.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0219</u>: Staff reported redness and swelling to victim's scrotum and testicles on 5/09/15. Victim was transported to emergency room and a sexual abuse exam was performed. DDSN, nor provider, had results of exam, but file reports indicated victim had an infection, cellulitis, a potential cause of the redness. This incident is still an open ANE case because the victim in this case died several months later, 9/05/15, as the result of a food related choking incident, which was not opened as an ANE incident.
- <u>Case#2015ANE0403</u>: Staff reported victim had a swollen eye and scratches on his chest. There were no behaviors listed in the log for date of incident. There was a behavior incident listed the day before which resulted in victim being restrained by staff. Both of those staff were placed on administrative leave, on 9/24/15, pending the outcome of the still ongoing LLE investigation.

Significant Allegation with Criminal Nexus without Criminal Charge (1)

• <u>Case# 2013ANE0542</u>: Consumer left the home, on 12/08/13, during third shift and was hit by a car less than 100 yards from the residence. Victim later died from his injuries. Staff reported when they exited the bathroom they found the front door to the home open and consumer had eloped. Accountability log

shows improper documentation in that the log appeared to have been pre-filled. There were no criminal charges filed against the staff on duty.

<u>Incidents Sustained with No Criminal Nexus and Performance Related (15)</u>

Normally, a narrative of 15 cases would be placed in an appendix and summarized in the body of the report. However, these 15 cases, all sustained, are presented to illustrate the types of performance deficiencies sustained within the ANE system, which are distinctly different from sustained cases with criminal charges of abuse.

- <u>Case# 2014ANE0258</u>: Victim consumer had not been paid by subject caregiver for washing his car on two occasions. Subject denied statements about not having paid victim for dates in question. However, he did admit to taking victim to corner store and buying him treats in return for a previous car wash, which he also did the same for another consumer. Subject was terminated 7/18/14.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE0408</u>: Anonymous caller alleged there was no food at the facility, the oven door was a fire hazard in need of repair, and a subject caregiver was able to pass out medications without a supervising nurse. It was determined the subject caregiver was med-tech certified having the authority to dispense medication. However, the LTCO verified oven was broken and had been replaced and food service allegation.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE0444</u>: Family of victim consumer reported there was a snake in the home a week prior and the back porch was off limits to consumers due to needed repairs, which then caused residents only being able to walk in hallway of home. It was determined the residential logs showed victim had been actively using the back porch and walking in the yard. Standards of care violations were verified by LTCO and another violation for using a thickening agent incorrectly in one resident's liquids.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE0446</u>: LTCO reported the following safety issues in the home: a raccoon had entered through a doggie door; snakes had entered the home through a hole in the bathroom wall leading to the crawl space; there was a gap in a window preventing it from completely closing; black mold spores were on the outside vent cover; and an air return vent was detached. Mentor gave written warnings to the house manager and program director in regards to not reporting maintenance concerns in a timely manner. Standards of care violations were verified.
- <u>Case# 2014ANE0517</u>: Victim alleged a subject staff member was going to 'knock him *** out' if victim hugged him. It was determined subject staff claimed the victim came up from behind and caught him off guard with a hug. Subject staff asked victim to stop hugging him and keep his hands off of him because he was staff, but subject staff did not remember his exact words. Two of the victim's housemates witnessing the incident reported subject staff cursed. Subject terminated for violating the dignity & respect policy.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0018</u>: Allegation consumer urinated in the front yard and trash from residence's trash
 can blows into the neighbor's yards. It was determined from staff numerous incidents of a consumer
 improperly urinating and putting trash in the street. This consumer also exposed himself to staff. LTCO
 verified allegation of lack of cleanliness; a toileting issue; consumer wandering; and failure to
 accommodate/monitor a consumer. Mentor provided written warnings to five staff members.

- <u>Case# 2015ANE0117</u>: Allegation from staff that after reviewing the residence's logs, it was noted
 another subject staff member pushed victim on several dates and failed to report suicidal comments.
 The consumer's behavior logs showed the victim being pushed by subject staff to avoid consumer
 hitting another consumer or to avoid getting subject's drinking cup. Victim said on two occasions he
 wanted to die and subject staff did not report suicide ideations. Subject staff terminated. LTCO verified
 allegations of standard of care of dignity and respect.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0251</u>: Staff reported another subject staff member made statements about disliking victim consumer's sexuality loud enough that victim consumer heard, but not directly to the consumer. Victim consumer heard statement and had his feelings hurt. A second victim consumer reported this subject staff was also rude to him, used profanity, and made him go to bed earlier than usual. LTCO verified finding of subject staff using profanity. Employee terminated.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0255</u>: Subject staff reported victim consumer for taking cigarettes from painters.
 Victim consumer yelled at the subject staff member pertaining to having to return the cigarettes. Subject staff yelled at victim for 3-5 minutes and threatened him with pressing charges and sending him to jail.
 Witness statements showed subject staff yelling only after victim yelled at staff. LTCO verified psychological abuse. Employee terminated.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0265</u>: Victim consumer retrieved from corner store after eloping. Program Director was walking in the home when subject staff came back with victim. Program Director overheard subject staff curse at victim consumer for running off and reported ANE allegation. Subject staff stated he was on shift alone and called police repeatedly to assist with victim's actions without assistance. On his last return to home, victim threatened to stab subject staff, broke the freezer door handle, and grabbed a knife. Subject admitted using profanity due to severity of situation. LTCO verified standards of care violation. Employee terminated for violation of dignity and respect.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0361</u>: Five Mentor staff reported this incident. Staff subject yelled at day program staff and victim consumer. Subject staff was angry the victim consumer was butting in, while the subject staff was trying to diffuse a situation between two other consumers who were about to fight. LTCO verified violation of standards of care of dignity & respect. Employee terminated.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0433</u>: Staff reported another subject staff cursed at victim consumer. Victim consumer would stay in his room when subject staff was on duty. Victim also claimed subject staff took away his cigarettes. LTCO verified complaints of verbal abuse, mental confinement of facility against will, individual right to smoke, failure to report, failure to follow plan, and dignity and respect. Employee terminated.
- <u>Case# 2015ANE0457</u>: Staff reported that subject staff yelled at victim consumer to move her feet that were on the couch so another housemate could sit down. LTCO verified allegations of violation of the dignity and respect policy.
- <u>Case# 2016ANE0060</u>: Staff reported that consumer victim was left alone for an undetermined amount of time in a van while subject staff went inside another facility. Investigation determined the incident lasted five minutes. The subject staff told the victim consumer to stay in the van while she quickly ran inside to pick up a medical product because it was raining so hard. LTCO verified violation of standard of care for supervision.

• <u>Case# 2016ANE0147</u>: Staff reported subject staff provided victim consumer with cigarettes and allowed victim to smoke marijuana in the home. Victim consumer has COPD and was not allowed to smoke or be around smoke. Subject admitted to giving victim cigarettes, but not knowing her smoking status. Employee terminated. LTCO verified failure to follow plan of care for smoking.

3. Observations of ANE Allegations:

After reviewing the data, the SIG developed the following six observations:

a. DDSN Classification of Allegations

The ANE process intentionally and appropriately casts a wide net to collect any information on a possible ANE incident. As a result, a majority of allegations are more staff and facility performance related than have a criminal nexus to ANE. A problem emerges when these non-criminal, performance related allegations are force fitted into one of five classifications: sexual abuse, physical abuse, psychological abuse, neglect, or exploitation. Just because someone makes an allegation to the ANE process, it does not equate that each entry has to be classified in ANE terms. For example, a staff member inappropriately yells or uses a curse word is certainly a performance related lack of professional conduct, but an independent investigator could classify this conduct as "psychological abuse." A staff member unavoidably leaves a consumer unattended in a van for five minutes to chase after another consumer eloping may be a technical policy violation, but this conduct could be classified as "neglect." These type of findings using ANE terms can create distortions in interpreting ANE results data when aggregated.

In addition to the limited ANE classification issue, DDSN had other concerns with non-criminal reviews. First, DDSN observed non-criminal allegations sustained, yet in its opinion, there was insufficient evidence. Second, non-criminal allegations have been sustained when the actual issue sustained was different than the original allegation. Third, and the most significant issue, independent investigators' terminology creates an appearance of wrongdoing without any evidence even suggesting wrongdoing. Providers are required to report every unknown bruise, such as a small bruise on a consumer's shin, which independent investigator will "verify" the incident based solely on confirming the bruise exists, regardless if evidence is developed of staff inappropriate conduct. Despite DDSN having disagreement with some of the independent investigative findings, based on fact or terminology, DDSN had no "due process" appeal rights to question a disputed finding.

All these reasons combined resulted in DDSN's decision to report sustained ANE allegations externally only when confirmed through a criminal charge against staff. These criminally sustained allegations are small in number, such as Mentor's five sustained incidents from a population of 170 alleged incidents. This then triggers stakeholders' concern with the disproportionately low number of sustained incidents in comparison to the large number of ANE allegations.

The root cause of this reporting problem issue stems from the rigid ANE classification system inhibiting accurately describing the substance of many performance related allegations. The reality is the clear majority of allegations have no criminal nexus and are more akin to staff or facility performance deficiencies. If accurately classified in performance terms rather than exclusively in ANE terms, the data could easily be discerned by stakeholders as to the level of significance. This would facilitate both DDSN management and external stakeholders to focus on serious ANE criminal allegations and outcomes, as well as be aware, but not misinterpret, sustained performance related allegations.

b. Low Risk of Under-Reporting ANE Allegations

Of the 170 incidents reviewed, 103 were reported by Mentor staff. Other reporters of ANE incidents were: family members (22), victims (19), house mates (2), anonymous (7), investigators (5) and other sources (12). Mentor enforced ANE reporting as evidenced by many instances of Mentor administratively sanctioning staff for lack of timely ANE reporting to SLED or their immediate supervisor, to include terminations. A review of the types of allegations reported does not indicate complainants were constrained or limited in making allegations. Further, the ANE system has attributes to support and encourage reporting, to include a confidential 24 hour hotline; ANE training required for staff and consumers; criminal liability for not reporting; and independent investigations for all allegations. Between staff, consumers, families, and neighbors, every residential home has many "eyes" on the home's activities, as well as a simple and confidential mechanism to report suspected ANE incidents.

c. Elongated Reporting Timeframes by Independent Investigators

During the audit period, the investigations by the independent investigators were completed with a median of 32 days, ranging from one to 733 days; 70 (41%) required over 45 days to complete; and nine were in excess of a year. Of these 70 incidents, 33 were vetted to the LTCO, 30 were to LLE, and seven to DSS-APS. The impact of delayed investigations for non-criminal allegations by LTCO and DSS-APS is less due to the provider completing its parallel, but separate, administrative reviews in ten days. However, the delayed investigation by LLE has a much greater impact for several reasons. First, evidence in these cases relies heavily on statements from victim(s), subject(s), and third party witnesses, and delayed interviewing diminishes the accuracy of witnesses' recollections, particularly consumers with intellectual disabilities. Second, and most important, if there was a risk of ongoing abuse of a vulnerable adult, delayed investigation only allows the alleged conduct to potentially continue. If the allegation identifies specific staff, the staff are immediately place on administrative leave, which partially mitigates this risk. Third, it creates a "real world" undue burden on the caregiver placed on leave without pay pending a resolution, as well as unnecessary stress on providers to properly staff residential homes during these elongated suspension periods. At some point with delayed LLE investigation, the multiple agencies operating the ANE process need to consider additional procedures to weigh the risk of unaddressed abuse to consumers against these unnecessary investigative delays. The current ANE process does not have procedures to proactively address delayed investigations, which exposes the system to unnecessary risks due to inaction.

d. Unresolved Investigations for Elongated Periods of Time

At the beginning of the audit of the 170 ANE incidents, 19 (11%) were pending with no resolution despite being opened at least 90 days, often much longer. The SIG requested these incidents be updated and, if possible, closed with a resolution from the independent investigator. Mentor's follow-up resulted in closing 10 cases with two sustained based on Mentor staff being criminally charged with abuse. Both incidents lacked a final LLE report, but SC Mentor had constructive notice of each criminal charge against staff and failed to report to DDSN. This increased the total sustained criminal incidents to five during the review period, which was a 66% increase. Of the nine incidents still unresolved, three were considered potentially significant. These nine incidents had been opened from 11 to 29 months, and were vetted to LLE (6), LTCO (1), and DSS-APS (2).

e. A Few Victims Generate a Disproportional Number of Allegations

Of the 170 incidents, 69 (40.5%) involved the same victim/complainant in four or more allegations. Although many of these complaints from "frequent flyers" appear nominal or even intentionally false to retaliate against staff, each had to be vetted and investigated. For example, 10 allegations pertained to the same victim for bruises of unknown origin. Subsequently, SLED-VAIU noted this pattern and learned the victim had an

unsteady gait and may have sustained bruises while being helped on/off transportation van. However, one of these "frequent flyer" complaints did result in a sustained incident with a staff criminally charged, which only reinforces the need to thoroughly vet allegations from all sources. A pattern was also noted in this group of misusing the ANE system to threaten staff as leverage to get their way in a particular situation or retaliate against staff for a decision(s) made.

f. Mentor Takes Administrative Action for Policy Violations

Of the 170 incidents, a review of the available records identified Mentor citing its staff with policy violations in 63 incidents (37%). The most frequent policy violations pertained to violating the dignity and respect policy; not following the Behavior Support Plan guidelines; and delay in ANE reporting. Mentor's internal administrative reviews recommended re-training in 38 incidents (22%). Further, 39 incidents (23%) resulted in staff terminations. Mentor advised the specific policy violation for an incident may not have been the sole factor in terminations; often, after an incident Mentor determines, based on the totality of information, the staff member is just not a good fit for the caregiver duties.

C. <u>SLED-VAIU Observations</u>

SLED-VAIU identified an opportunity for the provider, the agency, or both, to do a deeper administrative review into serious incidents, even if the evidence did not rise to the level to support a sustained criminal charge. In many cases, review of facility logs revealed behavioral indicators potentially contributing to the actual incident being investigated, such as behavior escalations or refusal to take prescribed medication. Further, residential home logs could be improved by creating a shift report with more detail. Regional DDSN facilities excel on quality shift reports, while the current residential home tendency is to only document negative behaviors or incidents. A more robust shift report could identify leading indicators allowing subsequent shifts to be more aware of potential or brewing issues. These deeper administrative reviews also could be used to improve operations to mitigate the risk of future incidents.

SLED also noted many agencies support the creation of an adult abuse registry to prevent re-hiring care workers not suitable to work in this industry. However, there are issues to work out with such a registry who would manage the list and establishing legal and workable standards to warrant placement on the list.

D. Advocacy Groups' Observations

Staff from the LTCO and the Protection & Advocacy for People with Disabilities, Inc. (P&A), a non-profit, were interviewed. Both entities serve the vulnerable adult community consumers residing in facilities owned or contracted by DDSN. Six staff members participating in the two group interviews unanimously identified Mentor as providing services of a lower quality when compared to peer providers. Each group had difficulty articulating exact reasons for this difference, but Mentor seemed to lack an intangible quality of striving to improve consumer care.

E. Other DDSN Providers Comparative Data & Observations

DDSN has five providers serving HM consumers in CTH I & II facilities, to include Mentor. Within this provider community, Mentor had 50% of the consumers and incurred 77% of the ANE allegations. Mentor did serve 74% of the HM consumers in this community.

The below table sets out the provider community's ANE allegation and population data during the audit period:

ANE Incidents						Consumer Population			
	FY	FY	FY					HM	% Total
Provider	14	15	16	Total	% Total	Population	% Total	population	HM pop.
CHESCO	9	4	9	22	9%	128	31%	11	7%
Excalibur	3	0	1	4	2%	17	4%	17	11%
Lutheran	3	6	9	18	8%	47	11%	9	6%
Mentor	43	76	57	176*	77%	208	50%	120	74%
Willowglen	6	1	1	8	4%	16	4%	4	2%
Total	64	87	77	228	100%	416	100%	161	100%

*Includes six duplicate incidents for Mentor

Common themes developed from interviews were:

- A key factor in managing consumers' behaviors was to motivate consumers to get out of the home and into the community on a regular basis. One provider worked to keep its HM population employed. A second provider focused on consumers volunteering for charitable organizations. A third provider spoke of the importance of developing schedules for out of home events with resident input and maintaining those schedules. Enhancing consumer behavior and activity was believed to indirectly reduce the risk of ANE allegations, particularly frivolous allegations motivated by consumer frustration or an unmet need.
- The majority of providers noted the consumer population had a tendency to make false allegations. This was done for many reasons, to include frustration, leverage against staff to get their way, or even retaliation against staff decisions.
- Two private providers used cameras in the common areas of the residences. The first provider used live-feeds only to allow staff to better monitor activities in other parts of the home while staff was busy in another part of the home, such as preparing meals. This provider also used recorded feeds in day program common areas. Cameras or audio monitors were used in bedrooms only if there were medical conditions needing more attention. The second provider used cameras with recorded feeds in common areas. Both providers stated cameras helped reduce ANE allegations and shortened investigative time periods addressing allegations. The use of cameras was approved by each provider's Human Rights Committee. It was noted the Protection & Advocacy group had no issues with using cameras in common areas.

IV. Other DDSN Management Controls Monitoring SC Mentor

A. DDSN "Freeze" on SC Mentor

On 3/24/2016, DDSN noticed Mentor, via letter, it was under a DDSN temporary "freeze" order to halt any plans to expand homes to add more consumers. This was done to allow Mentor to focus on enhancing service quality. The letter referenced a 3/15/2016 meeting where DDSN expressed concerns surrounding Mentor's performance serving consumers. Specifically, DDSN was concerned with Mentor's higher rate of sustained ANE cases.

It should be noted Mentor has been subjected to two prior temporary "freezes." The first freeze, documented via DDSN letter dated 7/7/2010, was based on the majority of its compliance/licensing measures being substantially below statewide averages with a declining trend line. Further, DDSN identified Mentor's rates of critical incidents and sustained abuse as requiring immediate attention. DDSN concluded, "*This signifies significant systemic problems throughout your organization*." A DDSN 3/4/2011 letter to Mentor identified

improvement, but DDSN still had concerns with the "level and type of activity that Mentor consumers are engaged in during the day. Specifically, it appears that many consumers remain at their respective home during the day. During the DDSN visits noted above, several consumers expressed concern about being bored because they stayed in the home all the time. Such boredom can contribute to consumer behavioral challenges and the critical incidents that have caused concern in the past." On 5/17/2011, ten months later, DDSN lifted the first freeze.

The second freeze, documented via letter dated 9/7/2011, was based on the poor results in a recent audit of Mentor. DDSN concluded, "SC Mentor has failed to ensure the stability of its improvements signifying that real systemic change did not take place." On 2/28/2012, five months later, this second freeze was lifted. DDSN noted it was particularly pleased that "meaningful activities outside of the residence for the individuals you support have significantly increased." DDSN applauded Mentor's self-initiating a day service in Columbia as an effective strategy to address this lingering issue. However, this day service was never established as planned.

The third and currently ongoing freeze, effective 3/24/2016, was followed by DDSN deploying robust data collection techniques to fully assess Mentor's problems. DDSN initiated its reoccurring Quality Assurance Review (QAR) for Mentor several months ahead of its normal 18 month schedule. DDSN conducted unannounced home visits in March (23 homes) and June 2016 (23 homes). However, the most powerful data of a potential root cause was developed by two subject matter expert clinicians assessing 21 total consumers' behavioral support plans (BSP) implemented by front-line staff. These two experts operated independently, but reached similar conclusions. BSPs assess problematic consumer behavior, followed by designing a plan for front line workers to use to intervene and replace a problem behavior with a positive behavior to improve consumers' quality of life. It is well understood consumers' problem behaviors can be key drivers resulting in critical incidents, to include ANE allegations against staff.

Both experts had significant concerns with the quality of the written BSPs developed for consumers. However, the most critical finding was the failure of front-line staff to use, as well as even understand, the written plan to work with the consumer on a day-to-day basis to improve behaviors. One expert commented, "In all cases the staff members were largely unaware of the procedures contained within the BSPs and these plans did not predict their interactions with the residents." The second expert commented, "Specifically, when questioned, staff rarely reported that they had not been shown how to implement the plans nor were they observed carrying out BSP procedures and provided feedback to the authors of the plans. This issue is directly related to the seemingly infrequent presence of Mentor behavioral personnel in the homes and face-to-face interactions with the home staff."

Both experts also commented on consumers spending too much time at the residence. One expert commented, "The one point of concern identified by consumers was boredom and the lack of activities during the day and that too much time was spent at the residence." The second expert commented in a more diplomatic manner, "There are also living situations in which consumer participation in common activities of daily living is much more prevalent."

Both experts identified positive attributes with both experts commenting favorably on the physical homes as clean, in good repair, and in suitable neighborhoods. It also appeared consumers spoke favorably about the staffs.

The April 2016 QAR identified a deficiency pattern in consumers' residential service plans. A residential service plan sets forth consumer data and a plan to provide each consumer with the life skills to improve independence and quality of life. Ten consumer's residential service plans were reviewed on two key elements indicative of effectiveness:

- "The effectiveness of the residential plan is monitored and the plan is amended when a) no progress is noted on an intervention; b) new intervention strategy, training, or support is identified; or c) the person is not satisfied with the intervention." (60% failed)
- "A quarterly report of the status of the interventions in the (residential service) plan must be completed." (70% failed)

The 2016 DDSN special assessment after the freeze identified systemic problems with both "planning" documents for each consumer's residential services and behavioral health.

The 46 unannounced home visits (23 in April 2016: 23 in June 2016) measured the following categories: outdoor conditions; indoor conditions; staff to client ratio; medical care; structured programming; and interviews with on-site staff and consumers. A critical incident category was also on the review checklist, but often was not considered during the field review. All of the categories, with the exception of structured programming, were rated "satisfactory," the highest rating. Interviews appeared positive with nominal derogatory comments. There were only a very few items within the major categories rated "unsatisfactory," and even the detailed explanation of these unsatisfactory items seemed quite nominal. The only deficiency patterns identified were:

- the item titled, "a schedule, showing specific and planned activities is posted in a conspicuous place," was rated unsatisfactory in 13 (28%) homes;
- the item titled, "activities correspond with the posted schedule," was rated unsatisfactory in 18 (39%) homes; and
- the item titled, "the facility has an appropriate staff-to-client ration," was rated unsatisfactory in six (13%) homes; all six were observed in the June 2016 unannounced review phase.

Mentor currently recognized the need to improve. Mentor has hired a new expert to manage its behavioral support program, as well as increased the ratio of front-line supervisors to direct caregivers. It recognized its high turnover in direct caregivers and field supervisors, which according to Mentor was an industry problem, has had an impact on its operations. The industry turnover issue was supported by peer providers, as illustrated by one provider commenting, 'it is hard to find employees for this type of work at \$10/hour where one mistake may result in a criminal charge.'

B. Quality Assurance Reviews (QAR)

DDSN outsourced its QARs to an independent third party vendor, the Alliant Corporation (Alliant). Many of the requirements for the reviews are mandated from Medicaid in waiver agreements with DDSN. Alliant reviewed all community residential providers every 12-18 months and measured compliance indicators in four areas:

- Administrative Indicators (AI): comply with reporting procedures for ANE, staff training, hiring, internal unannounced quarterly visits, and the existence of a risk management and Human Rights Committee functions;
- General Agency Indicators (GAI): operations, residential service delivery, and compliance with Medicaid requirements;

- Residential Habilitation Indicators (RHI): appropriate assessment and planning for consumers' residential needs and health/behavioral support needs.
- Residential Observations (RO): observations during a visit to a residential home emphasizing the staff's
 interaction with consumers, particularly to ensure the residential and health/behavioral plan is
 implemented as written.

The below chart depicts Mentor's QA scores, stratified by its high management (HM) population and its general population (QPL) over the past four fiscal years (FYs 2013 – 2016) in comparison to statewide averages:

		TOTAL	S		ΑI			GAI			RHI			RO	
FY	HM	QPL	State	HM	QPL	State	HM	QPL	State	HM	QPL	State	HM	QPL	State
13*	85.7	85.7	93.9	66.7	66.7	99.3	85.9	85.9	93.2	79.2	79.2	90.1	100	100	99.3
14	90.4	88.8	92.7	72.7	72.7	83.8	93.9	93.1	93.4	94.0	88.2	87.0	88.9	100	88.8
15	87.2	85.5	93.6	71.4	71.4	80.6	88.1	68.2	91.3	83.3	90.5	90.8	100	100	100
16	82.4	72.6	91.0	66.7	61.1	73.1	84.4	68.2	91.3	82.1	65.0	88.7	100	100	100
Avg.	86.4	83.2	92.8	69.4	67.9	84.9	88.1	78.9	92.3	84.7	80.7	89.2	97.2	100	97.0

Review of the past four FYs depicted Mentor's relative overall performance (total HM + total QPL/2) lower than the statewide average by the following percentages: 2013--9% lower; 2014--3% lower; 2015--7% lower; and 2016--16% lower. This overall lower performance pattern than the statewide average also persisted from FY 2008 through FY 2012 as follows: 2008 - 27% lower; 2009 - 14% lower; 2010 - 24% lower; and 2011/12 - 34% lower). In each of the past eight FY QA reports, Mentor trailed the statewide average by, on average, 16%.

Interpreting the QAR's scores requires a deeper examination of the review than just the total provider score. As an illustration of a QAR, the most recent FY 2016 QA examined 79 employee hiring/training records; five HM and five QPL consumer files for provider residential and health/behavioral services; and one observational site visit to a HM and QPL residence (2 of 74) where one consumer and available staff, normally two, were interviewed. For example, in the examination of 79 staff files for training, if only one staff file was noncompliant or all 79 staff files were non-compliant, both situations were scored the same as only one "unmet" requirement. The FY 2016 review denoted not meeting the requirement for reporting ANE allegations timely by identifying 30 errors, while the same element was not met in FY 2015 with only eight errors. Both FYs 2015 and 2016 had an unmet requirement in training, yet 2015 had 10 staff (18% of sample) not provided training while 2016 had 35 staff (44% of sample) with the same deficiency. This issue will be addressed by DDSN, effective 7/1/2016. A second significant limitation was no weighting of items as to significance in the approximately 100 items measured as "met" or "unmet" to yield an overall score. A deficiency for not maintaining a critical consumer plan of care had the same weight as not documenting refresher training.

The most significant limitation of the QAR was its focus on administrative compliance and not on quality of care. Certainly, documentation of compliance with key indicators (i.e., hiring; training; consumer care plans' documentation) adds weight the provider had the ingredients in place that contribute to successful quality of care. Yet, data to truly assess quality of care would come from direct interviews or surveying consumers and staff, yet the current QAR program limits to interviewing two consumers and generally two staff in two of SC Mentors 74 facilities (3%) by non-clinician auditors.

Even with the QAR focusing on minimum contract compliance review, the results indicative more of deficient administrative capabilities did have value in loosely correlating with deficient operational capabilities. If an organizational is deficiently administratively, it is certainly an indicator of operational risk to deliver complex human services.

During interview, the Alliant QA audit team noted, unanimously, Mentor's quality of care was below peer providers based on their holistic observations, which also included Alliant's observations inside of all 74 Mentor homes while conducting annual licensing inspections. A persuasive observation was Alliant's examination of consumers' residential and behavioral health plans of care during the most recent FY 2016 QAR, where it noticed a pattern of low quality documentation for many of the plans that were technically compliant based on just being filled out completely. To corroborate this observation, the April 2016 QAR tested 10 consumers without noting one exception for a BPS plan with a 100% score for health & behavioral support services; yet, the two clinician subject matter experts' review during the same timeframe determined the BSPs were ineffective primarily due to front line workers lack of skill to implement the written "paper" plan.

C. <u>Licensing Reviews</u>

Mentor facilities are licensed under South Carolina state law. DDSN has discretion on frequency of requiring licensing inspections, which current policy dictates annually based on prior external audit recommendations. The inspections focus on three areas:

- Safety: physical facility inspection, such as fire safety, electrical, heating/air-conditioning, water, and pet vaccinations;
- Home environment: physical facility inspection, such as first-aid kit, flashlight, bedroom requirements, support/consumer ratios, hot water temperature, and cleanliness; and
- Health services: primarily proper management of consumer medications.

The below chart depicts Mentor's licensing scores stratified by its high management (HM) population and its general population (QPL) over the past four fiscal years in comparison to statewide averages:

		CTH I		СТН ІІ			
Fiscal Year	HM	QPL	Statewide Avg.	HM	QPL	Statewide Avg.	
2013	95.4	100.0	95.2	94.2	93.4	93.2	
2014	96.2	100.0	96.1	91.2	87.1	94.7	
2015	95.8	100.0	94.5	91.7	88.3	87.6	
2016	96.2	100.0	92.1	90.4	84.5	88.1	
Average	95.9	100.0	94.5	91.9	88.3	90.9	

The data suggests Mentor's physical facilities were satisfactory and consistent with peer statewide averages. This was also observed during DDSN's 46 unannounced home visits in March and June 2016. It was noted that DDSN's third party auditor, Alliant, was physically on-site in all 74 SC Mentor facilities each year, but their audit focus was purely on the facility not requiring interviews of staff or consumers pertaining to quality of care.

D. Critical Incident & Death Reporting

DDSN's Quality Management Division tracks critical incidents (CI), which occur at DDSN facilities, county DDSN Boards, and private providers. Many types of incidents are tracked, such as accidents, medical events (i.e., choking, hospital stays), consumer on consumer assaults, or property theft. DDSN uses the metric of CI incidents per 100 consumers, which allows comparability among all providers. During FYs 14-16, Mentor's CI frequency/100 consumers was 60, while its private provider peer group average was 42. This data is not determinative of a Mentor deficiency; it is just another indicator of activity within the Mentor consumer

population. The below chart sets out Mentor and its private provider peer group CI frequency /100 consumers for FYs 14 - 16:

Provider	Fiscal Year 2014	Fiscal Year 2015	Fiscal Year 2016	3 FY Average
CHESCO	18	18	15	17
Excalibur	127	85	19	77
Lutheran Family	12	27	41	27
Mentor	43	74	62	60
Willowglen	47	29	11	29
FY Average	49	47	30	42

DDSN's Quality Management Division tracks deaths occurring at DDSN facilities, county DDSN Boards, and private providers. SLED-VAIU investigates all deaths in DDSN facilities and contracted residential programs. During FYs 14-16, Mentor served approximately 5% of the consumers in community residential settings, and recorded six deaths (3.1%) of the 191 deaths within this community.

E. Other Issue—Financial Reimbursement for High Management Consumers

This SIG review did not examine the financial reimbursement methodology for QPL or HM consumers. However, due to anecdotal information obtained incident to the ANE focus of this review, this data is being presented to raise awareness at DDSN of these issues for contemplation in future procurement contracts.

Only one county board participated in the HM program with 11 HM consumers (7%) from a population of 148 HM customers, while private providers served 137 consumers (93%). There was a perception from several interviewees that DDSN boards' reimbursement methodology created a disincentive to develop HM homes. DDSN boards operate on essentially a capitated rate model where 95% of reimbursed funds had to be applied towards service or be subject to recoupment by DDSN. A private provider's only requirement was to meet the contract requirements/standards, which creates the risk of striving to only meet minimum standards leading to potential windfall profits. However, according to DDSN, its policy exempts DDSN boards from the 95% requirement for HM homes. Regardless of the financial nuances, having the state dependent upon private providers serving 93% of the HM population requires inquiry, and it certainly creates market leverage by these providers during contract negotiations. DDSN may want to explore using a "Medicaid Loss Ratio" factor, such as the 9.5% the South Carolina Department of Health & Human Services uses with its Medicaid managed care providers to cap administrative overhead and profits at a reasonable level.

Mentor's reimbursements for approximately 200 consumers was frequently mentioned by interviewees as appearing to be excessive. However, Mentor's rates were no different from other CTH I & II providers. QPL consumers were reimbursed, on average, \$200/day and HM consumers at \$250/day, as well as both QPL and HM received an additional estimated \$20/day from consumers for room & board expenses. Providers were paid \$336/day for "forensic" consumers from the criminal justice system. For the upcoming FY 2017, Mentor's projected reimbursed costs are \$17,215,555. Mentor's perceived higher contract payments appeared to be a function of just serving more consumers.

DDSN management represented the service rates contained in the current RFP contract for QPL (2011) and HM (2012) were initially based on actual costs and input from existing providers, and these rates have been increased over the years based on inflation and other factors. Given the interviewees' concerns, the SIG's prior experience with DDSN incurring problems with accurately verifying provider cost data, and the length of time (2011-2012) since the original baseline cost analysis, it may be a good time to re-examine the contract rates. Given over a hundred million dollars of annual taxpayer funds are committed, it may be prudent to obtain

independent assurance for future rate setting from an external subject matter expert using comparative benchmarks from other states and independently verify cost data used to establish rates.

V. Way Forward

Clearly Mentor had proportionately higher ANE allegations (170) and sustained criminal incidents (5) than peer facilities. The 170 ANE incident allegations was alarming for a population of 200 consumers in 74 residential facilities over nearly a three year period. However, an analysis of these 170 incidents did not indicate systemic abuse towards consumers inasmuch as the majority of the ANE reporting system contained allegations more akin to staff/facility performance issues and the vast majority of all allegations were unsustained by independent investigations.

Many factors can contribute to having a disproportional number of ANE allegations, some of which do not relate to a provider's performance. However, there is no ambiguity applying the legal criminal standard of probable cause to every provider's allegations. Mentor served 5% of the residential community training homes, yet had 29% of the population's criminally sustained incidents (5) over nearly a three year period. Of the four incidents with sufficient documentation, three (75%) indicated staff used abuse (hitting, pushing, and verbal) as a premeditated tool to gain compliance, rather than losing their temper in response to a consumer's behavior. A single incident with staff showing up for their shift apparently intent on using abusive techniques to manage their consumers is a major failure.

In many ways, the ANE issue underpinning this review was a symptom of a broader issue—Mentor contract performance. Mentor's annual QA scores over the past eight years were always below the statewide average by, on average, 16%. Mentor's first freeze in 2010 was described as, "this signifies significant systemic problems throughout your organization." The second 2011 freeze was described as, "Mentor has failed to ensure the stability of its improvements signifying that real systemic change did not take place." The third freeze was best illustrated by its nearly complete behavior support plan failure with strong indications its residential service plans were also weak. In all three freezes, DDSN identified a pattern of Mentor consumers not being sufficiently challenged to engage the world outside of the home with employment, day service, or other interests.

It is easy to use these deficiencies to paint Mentor with a broad brush, which is not accurate. The data clearly shows Mentor has satisfactory facilities with an appropriate business model to provide care for consumers. However, its weaknesses seemed to be in the consumer training and development areas. The direction to address this problem is for DDSN to shift provider contract monitoring from a minimum contract compliance audit towards a risk-based approach emphasizing outcome measures. This shift will correspondingly require a greater planning investment in future contracts with increased level of specificity in specific outcomes, along with corresponding contract measuring mechanisms to hold a provider accountable. Examples of outcome expectations and measurements include:

- Address a high contract risk of residential and behavioral health service, which is also an important
 consumer requirement, would be addressed similar to how DDSN's two clinicians conducted their April
 2016 review interview staff and consumers while looking at documentation to assess the quality level
 of service delivery.
- Address getting consumers engaged into the community (i.e., employment; day service; education; or interests) could be a process where consumers' contraindicated for community engagement are approved by DDSN; those with documented engagement are lightly sample tested; and the thrust of the audit examines documentation on Mentor's contractual duty to document how it encourages interests from the consumers non-contraindicated and still unengaged with community.

This may require a higher level of audit expertise and time, which can be more than offset by less compliance testing with longer compliance audit cycles coupled with unpredictable audit patterns to motivate providers to be audit ready "every day." Right now, providers know DDSN's licensing and QA audit rhythms and providers cycle up their efforts just prior to audits. Further, compliance expectations need to be raised under the management principle if a provider can't get simple compliance right, then it certainly reflects on a provider's ability to execute more complex and difficult operational delivery of human services. Compliance sample sizes can be reduced; any deficiencies beyond an expected normal human error should result in monetary fines and the cost of additional compliance auditing testing is born by the provider.

In the big picture, DDSN's three freezes along with increased provider engagement could be perceived as over-accommodating a distressed provider. It is fully recognized DDSN is a challenging position needing Mentor's services for those consumers other DDSN providers appear to be unwilling to serve. DDSN should certainly support its providers, but it needs to shift towards higher contract expectations reinforced with financial incentives and penalties. If the State is going to outsource, we need to do it like a business transaction to properly motivate parties to get value from the contracts. Weak contract expectations and contract monitoring focused on administrative indicators, rather than outcome performance, creates a fertile environment for complacent provider performance, or worse.

VI. Findings & Recommendations

<u>Finding #1</u>: During the audit period, Mentor's ANE incident allegations (170) were proportionally higher than peer facilities but not indicative of a systemic pattern of ANE in its facilities; however, its disproportionately high criminally sustained incidents (5) were indicative of relative poor performance compared to peer facilities.

Finding #2: The ANE process was effective with a low risk of under-reporting; particularly noteworthy were its components of initial allegations assessed by a highly professional law enforcement agency, SLED; investigations conducted by an independent criminal or administrative investigator; ANE training required by staff and consumers; a confidential 24 hour hotline; and criminal liability for not reporting.

<u>Finding #3</u>: The ANE process was deficient in oversight procedures to ensure timely resolution of all allegations by the SLED designated investigative agency, as illustrated by 41% of investigations requiring in excess of 45 days to resolve and 11% of incidents pending in excess of 90 days still unresolved at the time of the audit.

Recommendation #3: DDSN should consider taking a leadership role with agencies responsible for the ANE process to establish procedures fixing responsibility with providers to contact the SLED designated investigative agency (i.e., local law enforcement, DSS, or Ombudsman) at specific intervals after the initial allegation if there is a lack of a response, such as 10 days and 30 days; contact SLED for resolution if no investigative response, such as after 45 days; and after a non-response from the investigative agency after 60 days, elevate the issue to the DDSN State Director for resolution with ANE participating agencies.

Finding #4: The ANE process's limited classifications used for allegations and independent investigator terminology can create distortions in interpreting ANE results data when aggregated, which led to DDSN reporting ANE allegations without sufficient detail for external stakeholders to fully analyze and understand the ANE process's results.

Recommendation #4a: DDSN should consider taking a leadership role with agencies responsible for the ANE process to expand the current ANE reporting of only total allegations and sustained criminal

incidents to include categorizing all allegations by significance, such as allegations with a criminal nexus and administrative staff/facility performance issues.

Recommendation #4b: DDSN should consider taking a leadership role with agencies responsible for the ANE process to provide terminology guidance to administrative investigators that "verified (sustained)" equates to verifying allegation based on a specific standard (preponderance or clear & convincing evidence) and fixing accountability to a staff member; "verify (sustain)" should not be used solely based on confirming alleged incident occurred without information fixing wrongdoing accountability to staff, which creates an inappropriate inference, particularly when aggregating ANE results data.

Recommendation #4c: DDSN should consider taking a leadership role with agencies responsible for the ANE process to develop a public reporting mechanism on its web page of recurring audit results and sustained allegations with a criminal nexus in a comparative framework to facilitate stakeholders, consumers, and advocacy groups understanding provider performance, as well as motivate providers to perform.

Recommendation #4d: DDSN should consider taking a leadership role with agencies responsible for the ANE process to consider a policy permitting the LTCO the professional discretion to completely delegate an investigation to the provider which is completely de minimis in nature without any risk of an adverse impact on consumer quality of care or having an ANE implication.

<u>Finding #5</u>: Mentor has satisfactory facilities with an appropriate business model to provide care for consumers, but it had a pattern of weaknesses in the consumer training and development areas.

Recommendation #5: The DDSN should consider shifting provider contract monitoring from a minimum contract compliance audit towards a risk-based approach emphasizing outcome measures, which will correspondingly require a greater planning investment in future contracts with increased level of specificity in specific outcomes, along with corresponding contract measuring mechanisms to hold a provider accountable.

<u>Finding #6</u>: DDSN had adequate management controls to identify Mentor QPL and HM contract compliance deficiencies, but these controls only loosely correlated in accurately measuring the quality of the delivery of human services to consumers, primarily in training and development.

Recommendation #6a: DDSN should consider enhancing its audit program to measure the quality of service provided to consumers, which can be cost/effective when combined with less compliance testing, longer compliance audit cycles, and establishing an unpredictable audit pattern to motivate providers to be audit ready "every day."

Recommendation #6b: DDSN should consider administratively investigating bad ANE outcomes, whether criminally charged or not, after law enforcement completes its criminal investigation to assess providers' operational capabilities to reduce the risk of the bad outcomes and, if appropriate, fix accountability to the provider for any due diligence failure contributing to a bad ANE outcome.

<u>Finding #7</u> : Interviews raised concerns with anecdotal information about the methodology for QPL and HM contract reimbursement rates as appearing excessive and the lack of non-profits servicing HM consumers.	
Recommendation #7: DDSN should consider re-examining its methodology in the next change in contract rates, such as using an external subject matter expert consultant who can use comparative benchmarks from other states and independently verify cost data used to establish rates.	
ADMINISTRATIVE NOTE:	
DDSN's comments on report located at link: http://oig.sc.gov/Documents/Review-of-Allegations-Involving-SC-Mentor.po	<u>1f</u> .
24	

2017-2018 Fiscal Year Budget Discussions

These documents are presented to the Commission for continued discussion concerning DDSN's budget request items. The list was derived from discussions with consumers, families, advocates, DSN boards and private providers and placed into the priority tiers based on the Commission's discussion at the August work session. Items reflect prior agency budget request priorities, items related to identified strategic planning goals, and increased funding needs due to recent actions made by the agency or outside regulatory agencies.

TIER 1

- Waiting List Reduction Efforts
 - Continue to move individuals off waiting list
 - Request for continued appropriations for waiting list reduction efforts
 - Aligned with Strategic Issue Waiting List
- Workforce Development Wage Increase
 - Direct care wages are no longer competitive
 - Hiring wage would need to be \$12 \$13 per hour to be highly competitive
 - Address identified needs of Direct Care professional career ladder development and/or possible wage increase for completion of desired certified training
 - Aligned with Strategic Issue of Recruitment and Retention of Qualified Staff

- \$3.8 Million for 900 in-home CS or IR/RD slots
- \$500,000 for 50 in-home HASCI slots
- \$9 Million would bring minimum salary to \$11.00 per hour; represents an 8.8 percent raise from \$10.11 per hour
- Includes direct care staff and immediate supervisors, but not nursing staff

TIER 2

- Crisis Management
 - DDSN must respond to consumer crisis situations in a timely manner
 - Aligned with the Strategic Planning Issue of Crisis Management
- High Management/Forensic Residential Services
 - Increased number of court ordered residential placements of individuals with challenging behaviors
 - Need to increase provider rate to cover the actual cost of providing high level of supports and to build system capacity
 - Aligned with the Strategic Planning Goals of responding quickly and appropriately to situations in which consumers and/or others are threatened and achieve same day placements for consumers in crisis
- Transition of Individuals from Regional Centers to the Community
 - DDSN must continue to move individuals based on choice consistent with US Supreme Court Olmstead decision

- \$1.65 Million for a regional crisis team, 4 beds and TBI inpatient for 3-4 individuals
- \$150,000 for Psychiatric Support for Community Services
- \$2 Million for 50 beds

• \$1.2 Million to transition 28 individuals to the community

TIER 3

- Intake Costs Related to System Changes
 - Aligned with the Strategic Issue Intake Process, the DDSN Commission decentralized the function of Intake to have local providers complete this service to be effective October 2016
- \$1.2 Million for statewide implementation
 - Currently using one time funds to transition into the new system during FY 2016-2017
 - New funds will be required to maintain a decentralized system beginning July 1, 2017
- Community ICF/IID Rates
 - Provider cost reports indicate the need for a rate increase to Community ICF/IID settings
 - Additional funds will allow the agency to make these needed adjustments and hold provider funding harmless in the aggregate
- \$1.5 Million to adjust ICF/IID rates to meet costs

- Training
 - DDSN to offer increased training opportunities for providers and families
 - Three-pronged approach: DDSN staff, bring in national subject matter experts and facilitate and support provider peer training
 - Increased opportunities offered or facilitated by DDSN was identified as a strategy in multiple goals specific action plans of the DDSN Strategic Plan
 - Additional resources are required to provide substantially additional training statewide

• \$200,000

TIER 4

- Greenwood Genetic Center
 - DDSN's major prevention of disabling conditions related to intellectual disabilities, related disabilities, and autism
- \$500,000 to maintain and expand statewide access to specialized genetic services

- Post-Acute Rehabilitation
 - New funds are still necessary to meet the needs of uninsured or underinsured individuals
- \$500,000 to serve an additional 8 10 individuals

Additional Items Identified as Important by Providers

Department of Labor

- Need federal requirement dramatically changes the overtime exceptions
- New regulation requires regional centers and providers to change the definition of which staff can be considered exempt and which must be paid overtime
- New funding is required to cover the increased personnel cost
- Employment/Individualized Day Service Opportunities
 - Requirement of the CMS HCBS Final Rule
 - DDSN system has heavy reliance on congregate day supports; to become compliant with new Final Rule the service delivery system will need to offer more individualized employment and day support options

• \$1.5 Million

• \$5.1 Million for 625 individuals

OTHER IDENTIFIED NEEDS

- Aging Care Givers
 - Targeted residential expansion
 - As of June 30, 2016, almost 1300 individuals live with caregivers aged 72 and over
 - Allows DDSN to be more proactive for these families and not only reacting to them once in crisis
- Compression Pay for Employees
 - In addition to the need for overall increased wages, there is little difference between the hiring wage and the wage of employees with more than 5 years of service
 - Aligned with the Strategic Planning Issue of Recruitment and Retention of Staff

\$2.1 Million for 100 beds

- \$1 Million provides a 3 4 percent raise to direct care and nursing staff employed +> 5 years
- Could potentially be combined with wage increase as new funding there will cause further compression issues.

•	 Conflict Free Case Management Requirement of the CMS HCBS Final Rule that ongoing case management must be separate from provision of direct services; DHHS is the lead agency DDSN 's current case management system is not compliant 	• \$1.1 Million to implement statewide
.	Maintenance of Effort for Provider Network	
	 Service funding rates must be sufficient to cover the actual cost of care 	• \$2 Million = 3% operating budget increase
	Medicaid Requirements Increased	
	 CMS required change to DDSN's administrative oversight of four HCBS Waivers Loss of revenue due to change in FMAP (70%/30% reduced to 50%/50% federal match) Increased requirements by Medicaid of DDSN Waiver program oversight 	• \$500,000
	Non-Emergency Respite	
	 Expand opportunities for families and increase service capacity for non-emergency respite 	• \$500,000
	Complements Strategic Planning Goal to address potential crisis situations proactively	
•	Provider Oversight	
	 Strengthen system to focus on quality outcome measures separate from Contract Compliance Review 	• \$250,000
	 Clinical positions to focus on outcome measures 	
	The agency must improve its ability to track and report on outcome-driven performance	
	Anticipate related recommendations from the current SIG review	
	Aligned with Strategic Issue Oversight of Providers	

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Budget Reduction Analysis Potential Items for 3% State Fund Reduction of \$7.2 Million

Governor Haley is requesting each state agency to conduct a General Fund reduction analysis where areas in DDSN's budget are identified to be reduced or eliminated if the agency receives a 3% General Fund budget reduction in its FY 2016-2017 budget. One-time expenditures from the FY 2016-2017 budget cannot be considered for the purpose of this analysis. All agencies are expected to identify savings with the smallest possible impact on services.

Presented below is a list of options from different areas within DDSN's statewide system that can be reduced in part or in whole to meet the required 3 percent state funding reduction analysis. The items are presented in three groups based on the impact and consequences of each reduction action. No one or two actions will be sufficient to meet the reduction required. Items from each of the three groups is necessary to achieve the required funding reduction amount and follow Governor Haley's instruction to minimize negative impact to services. DDSN must ensure its ability to respond to individuals whose health and safety are in jeopardy and maintain compliance with Medicaid, other federal and state requirements.

A. The following items do not take away services individuals are receiving today nor do they reduce funding to any service provider. However, the two items related to attrition and the non-emergency respite item may significantly restrict the availability of new services to individuals and families.

ADMINISTRATION

•	50/50 Medicaid FFP	\$119,000	(3%)
		\$198,000	(5%)

CAPITAL IMPROVEMENTS

• 100% State Dollars \$2 Million (80%)

ATTRITION FROM STATE FUNDED COMMUNITY SUPPORTS

• 100% State Funded \$350,000 for 25 slots

ATTRITION FROM IN-HOME WAIVER SUPPORTS

• 70/30 Medicaid FFP

• ID/RD and CS Waivers \$420,000 for 100 slots \$2.1 Million for 500 slots

• HASCI Waiver \$238,000 for 25 slots

NON-EMERGENCY RESPITE

• 100% State Dollars \$500,000 (100% of expansion)

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Budget Reduction Analysis Potential Items for 3% State Fund Reduction of \$7.2 Million

B. The following items reduce funding to service providers.

PROVIDER	NETWORK	STATE FUND	REDUCTION
			MEDUCITOR

• 100 % State Dollars

• Potentially eliminates funding

 70/30 Medicaid FFP Applies to all providers of Case Management, Early Intervention, Day Supports, Employment, and Residential 	\$1.2 Million \$3.6 Million	(1%) (3%)
REGIONAL CENTERS		
• 70/30 Medicaid FFP	\$240,000 \$720,000	(1%) (3%)
DDSN COMMUNITY PROGRAM SERVICES		
• 70/30 Medicaid FFP	\$ 40,000 \$119,000	(1%) (3%)
GREENWOOD GENETIC CENTER		
• 70/30 Medicaid FFP and 50/50 Medicaid FFP	\$ 43,000 \$128,000	(1%) (3%)
INTERAGENCY & SPECIAL CONTRACTS		
• 50/50 Medicaid FFP for majority	\$16,000 \$48,000	(1%) (3%)
STATE FUNDED CASE MGMT TO INCENTIVIZE	WAIVER END	ROLLMENT

\$350,000

\$700,000

(50%)

(100%)

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Budget Reduction Analysis Potential Items for 3% State Fund Reduction of \$7.2 Million

C. The following items reduce or eliminate existing services or availability of services to individuals and families.

• 2 remaining Centers

100% State DollarsEliminates Program	\$150,000	(100%)
CAREGIVER RELIEF		
100% State DollarsEliminates Program	\$386,000	(100%)
POST-ACUTE REHABILITATION		
• 100% State Dollars	\$31,000 \$93,000	(1%) (3%)
FAMILY SUPPORT/RESPITE		
• 100% State Dollars	\$300,000	(20%)
CHILD DEVELOPMENT CENTERS		
• 100 % State Dollars	\$218,000	(100%)

Attachment D

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs			
FY 2016-2017 Spending Plan - Draft for Approval by the DDSN Commission 9-15-16			
γ, ε,			
Financial Projections for Fiscal Year 2017	Description	Base Expenditures as of July 1, 2016 (Total Funds)	Commitments after July 1, 2016 (Total Funds)
Base Expenditures*:			
Agency Budget for Community Contracts	FY 17 Community Contracts - Approved by DDSN Commission June 16, 2016	\$512,682,944	
Regional Centers/Community Program Services		\$98,519,758	
Administration		\$7,929,740	
Subtotal		\$619,132,442	
* Base expenditures do not include system wide employee/employer benefit increases or	expansion funding.		
Service Development			
Residential Services:			
Movement of Individuals from Regional Centers	24 Community Residential Placements		\$3,547,800
Critical Needs Response - New Bed Development - ID/RD, ASD, HASCI			\$8,755,000
2. Critical Needs Response - New Bed Development - ID/RD, ASD, HASCI	125 Community Residential Placements (dependent on setting necessary to meet individual needs)		\$8,755,000
At Home Services:			
Head & Spinal Cord Injury (HASCI)			
1. HASCI Waiver - Expansion	10 Waiver Slots as Expanded Service Capacity is Required		\$316,350
2. HASCI Specialized Post-Acute Rehabilitation - Expansion	Specialized Post-Acute Rehabilitation for 8-10 individuals		\$500,000
2. HASCI Specialized Post-Acute Reliabilitation - Expansion	Specialized Post-Acute Reliabilitation for 8-10 illustratuals		\$500,000
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)			
Community Support (CS) Waiver - Expansion	82 Waiver Slots Expansion		\$1,115,200
The state of the s			1 / -/
Intellectual Disability/ Related Disability (ID/RD)			
Community Support (CS) Waiver - Expansion	668 Waiver Slots Expansion		\$9,084,800
	·		
All Disability Populations			
Consumer Needs Assessment	Additional Band Changes and Outliers		\$600,000
Statewide Initiatives:			
Personal Services and Employer Fringe Benefits Increase			
System Wide Increase	Employee Pay Plan Allocation & Employer Retirement & Health/Dental Insurance Increase		\$18,582,381
Other Initiatives			
Expansion of Non-Emergency Respite Beds	Four Beds Statewide for Planned Respite Needs		\$500,000
2. Greenwood Genetic Center	Expand Neural Tube Defects (NTD) and Genetic Counseling and Treatment Services		\$1,600,000
Capital Needs			
Capital Needs Capital Development/Infrastructure	Required Maintenance, Health/Safety Upgrades, Increase Capacity, Technology Needs	\$2,483,750	
System Wide State Facilities	Capital Projects Debt Service Funding - Regional Center and Community Providers Statewide	\$3,900,000	
		\$3,300,000	
Appropriated Non-Recurring Funds			
Lander Equestrian Services - Proviso 118.16	Lander Equestrian Services		\$300,000
Projected Expenditures for Funding		<u>\$625,516,192</u>	\$44,901,531
Total			\$670,417,723

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs			
FY 2016-2017 Spending Plan - Draft for Approval by the DDSN Commission 9-15-16			
1 7			
Financial Projections for Fiscal Year 2017	Description	Base Expenditures as of July 1, 2016 (Total Funds)	Commitments after July 1, 2016 (Total Funds)
Base Expenditures*:			
Agency Budget for Community Contracts	FY 17 Community Contracts - Approved by DDSN Commission June 16, 2016	\$512,682,944	
Regional Centers/Community Program Services		\$98,519,758	
Administration		\$7,929,740	
Subtotal		\$619,132,442	
* Base expenditures do not include system wide employee/employer benefit increases or	expansion funding.		
Service Development			
Residential Services:			
Movement of Individuals from Regional Centers	24 Community Residential Placements		\$3,547,800
			\$3,547,800
Critical Needs Response - New Bed Development - ID/RD, ASD, HASCI	125 Community Residential Placements (dependent on setting necessary to meet individual needs)		\$8,755,000
At Home Services:			
Head & Spinal Cord Injury (HASCI)			
1. HASCI Waiver - Expansion	10 Waiver Slots as Expanded Service Capacity is Required		\$316,350
2. HASCI Specialized Post-Acute Rehabilitation - Expansion	Specialized Post-Acute Rehabilitation for 8-10 individuals		\$500,000
2. TIASCI Specialized Post-Acute Reliabilitation - Expansion	Specialized Post-Acute Reliabilitation for 8-10 illustriduals		\$300,000
Autism Spectrum Disorder (ASD)			
Community Support (CS) Waiver - Expansion	82 Waiver Slots Expansion		\$1,115,200
			, , -,
Intellectual Disability/ Related Disability (ID/RD)			
Community Support (CS) Waiver - Expansion	668 Waiver Slots Expansion		\$9,084,800
All Disability Populations			
Consumer Needs Assessment	Additional Band Changes and Outliers		\$600,000
Statewide Initiatives:			
Personal Services and Employer Fringe Benefits Increase			
System Wide Increase	Employee Pay Plan Allocation & Employer Retirement & Health/Dental Insurance Increase		\$18,582,381
Other Initiatives	Facility Dayle Chatacookide for Discounted Describe Name		4500 000
Expansion of Non-Emergency Respite Beds Grantin Country	Four Beds Statewide for Planned Respite Needs		\$500,000
2. Greenwood Genetic Center	Expand Neural Tube Defects (NTD) and Genetic Counseling and Treatment Services		\$1,600,000
Capital Needs			
Capital Needs Capital Development/Infrastructure	Required Maintenance, Health/Safety Upgrades, Increase Capacity, Technology Needs	\$2,483,750	
System Wide State Facilities	Capital Projects Debt Service Funding - Regional Center and Community Providers Statewide	\$3,900,000	
a. System tride state (defines	suprem regions bear service i analig inegional center and community i reviders statewide	75,500,000	
Appropriated Non-Recurring Funds			
Lander Equestrian Services - Proviso 118.16	Lander Equestrian Services		\$300,000
Projected Expenditures for Funding		\$625,516,192	\$44,901,531
Total			\$670,417,723

Financial Ducio etiono fou Final Venu 2017		
Financial Projections for Fiscal Year 2017 FY 2017 Revenue		
11 2017 Nevenue		
Revenue Sources	FY 2017 Base	Percentage of Revenue
State Appropriated Funds	\$231,643,470	34.45%
State Allocation for Employee Pay Increase and Employer Share of Health Insurance Increase	\$6,898,797	1.03%
One-time State Funds - Special Items	\$300,000	0.04%
State Carry Forward Funds	\$939,561	0.14%
Other Carry Forward Funds	\$805,446	0.12%
Federal Funds	\$340,000	0.05%
Medicaid Revenue	\$423,314,758	62.96%
Education Improvement Act (EIA) Funds	\$548,653	0.08%
Other Earnings	\$1,203,803	0.18%
Debt Service Funds	\$6,383,750	0.95%
Total Projected Revenue	\$672,378,238	100.00%

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Estimated One-time State Funds Available to the Agency and Proposed Utilization of One-time State Funds to Support FY 2017 Waiting List Reduction Efforts For DDSN Commission Approval September 2016

Revenue:	
FY 2016 Carry Forward State Funds Available One-time	\$939,561
Expenditures:	
Case Management and Day Support Capacity Building (remaining from FY 2016):	<u>\$464,150</u>
Balance from FY 2016 Available for One-time Use	\$475,411
Estimated One-time Revenue	
Recurring Appropriations Available One-time in FY 2017 due to Timing of Individuals Enrolling into Ongoing Services	\$4,036,250
Proposed One-time Expenditures:	
Capital for Day and Residential Capacity Building	\$1,000,000
State Funded Case Management Services to Expedite Enrollment of Individuals	\$700,000
Intake Process	\$879,000
Additional Funding to Increase Access to Respite	\$70,000
Equipment and Training Assistance for Service Providers for use with Therap	\$250,000
Special Olympics – Project Unify	<u>\$200,000</u>
Subtotal	\$3,099,000
Estimated 2017 Balance of One-time Funds	<i>\$937,250</i>
Estimated Total Balance (2016 and 2017)	\$1,412,661
Workforce initiatives such as retention, recruitment, and marketing strategies; portioned to include community residential and day providers and regional centers; must be used within the current fiscal year and cannot be carried forward	\$1,200,00
Statewide marketing and training initiatives	\$ <u>200,000</u>
Remaining Balance	_

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs

Waiting List Reduction Efforts

		2015			2016								
Row#	Total Numbers At Beginning of the Month	October	November	December	January	February	March	April	May	June	July	August	September
1	Intellectual Disability/Related Disabilities Waiver Waiting List Total	4,934	4,793	4,779	4,925	4,935	5,001	5,191	5,312	5,545	5,702	5,815	6,059
2	Community Supports Waiver Waiting List Total	3,544	3,534	3,478	3,530	3,501	3,551	3,566	3,734	3,563	3,028	3,010	2,862
3	Head and Spinal Cord Injury Waiting List Total	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
4	Critical Needs Waiting List Total	122	118	124	122	122	133	125	129	137	149	160	147
5	Total Number <u>Added</u> to the ID/RD, HASCI, and CS Waiting Lists	318	367	214	406	285	389	544	602	456	452	346	615
6	Total Number <u>Removed</u> from the ID/RD, HASCI, and CS Waiting Lists	848	518	284	208	304	272	340	313	394	830	251	596
7	Number of Individuals Enrolled in a Waiver by Month	133	154	125	176	180	137	195	136	124	140	117	120
8	Number of Individuals Opted for Other Services/Determined Ineligible by Month	349	229	127	94	132	128	147	115	48	61	368	32
9	Total Number of Individuals Removed from Waiting Lists (Running Total)	6,473	6,549	6,837	7,050	7,327	7,631	7,935	8,229	8,676	9,412	9,650	10,154
10	Total Number of Individuals Pending Waiver Services (Running Total)	1,901	1,952	1,815	1,833	1,743	1,690	1,606	1,598	1,736	2,084	1,999	2,059
11	Total Unduplicated Individuals on the Waiver Waiting Lists (*Approximate)	5,680	5,495*	5,449*	5,580	5,575*	5,635	5,776	5,879	6,148	6,129	6,246	6,425

^{**} There are 6,425 unduplicated people on a waiver waiting list. Approximately 28.0 percent of the 8,921 names on the combined waiting lists are duplicates.

PDD Waiting List Information

	1 DD Walting List Information												
12	PDD Program Waiting List Total	1,615	1,621	1,619	1,633	1,638	1,649	1,659	1,679	1,653	1,639	1,630	1,607
13	Total Number <u>Added</u> to the PDD Waiting List	57	53	56	60	51	48	63	69	34	62	44	50
14	Total Number Removed from the PDD Waiting List	44	47	58	43	46	37	53	49	60	76	53	73
1.5	Number of Individuals Enrolled in the PDD <u>State Funded</u> Program by Month	276	279	291	276	264	259	263	256	253	241	227	214
16	Number of Individuals Pending Enrollment in the PDD Waiver by Month	72	72	81	84	82	75	81	97	110	137	143	164
17	Number of Individuals Enrolled in the PDD Waiver by Month	699	695	686	684	691	695	690	671	656	631	625	605

Updated 9/6/2016

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Waiting List Reduction Efforts

As of September 1, 2016 (run on September 6, 2016)

Waiting List	Number of Individuals	Consumer/Fam	Number of Individuals	
	Removed from Waiting Lists	Number of Individuals Enrolled in a Waiver	Number of Individuals Opted for Other Services/ Determined Ineligible	Services are Pending
Intellectual Disability/Related Disabilities (As of July 1, 2014)	1,438 (FY15) 2,109 (FY16) <u>17 (FY17)</u> 3,564	713 (FY15) 1,041 (FY16) <u>50 (FY17)</u> 1,804	519 (FY15) 858 (FY16) <u>1 (FY17)</u> 1,378	69 (FY15) 301 (FY16) <u>12 (FY17)</u> 382
Community Supports (As of July 1, 2014)	2,429 (FY15) 1,838 (FY16) 1,525 (FY17) 5,792	700 (FY15) 640 (FY16) <u>175 (FY17)</u> 1,515	1,507 (FY15) 891 (FY16) <u>397 (FY17)</u> 2,795	29 (FY15) 429 (FY16) 1,024 (FY17) 1,482
Head and Spinal Cord Injury (As of Oct 1, 2013)	798	361	242	195
		3,680	4,415	
Total	10,154	8,	2,059	

Waiting List *	Number of Individuals Added Between July 1, 2014 and September 1, 2016	Number of Individuals Waiting as of September 6, 2016			
Intellectual Disability/Related Disabilities	4,302 (379 since 7/1/16)	6,059			
Community Supports	4,320 (540 since 7/1/16)	2,862			
Head and Spinal Cord Injury	0	0			
Total	8,622	8,921**			

- * There is currently no Head and Spinal Cord Injury (HASCI) Waiver waiting list.
- ** There are 6,425 unduplicated people on a waiver waiting list. Approximately 28.0 percent of the 8,921 names on the combined waiting lists are duplicates.

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs As of August 31, 2016

Service List	07/31/16	Added	Removed	08/31/16
Critical Needs	160	37	50	147
Pervasive Developmental Disorder Program	1630	50	73	1607
Intellectual Disability and Related Disabilities Waiver	5815	249	41	6023
Community Supports Waiver	3010	341	530	2821
Head and Spinal Cord Injury Waiver	0	25	25	0

Report Date: 9/7/16

State of South Caroling Sovernor's Proclamation

WHEREAS, direct support professionals, including direct care workers, personal assistants, personal attendants, and in-home support workers, are the primary providers of publicly-funded, long-term supports and services for millions of individuals with disabilities; and

WHEREAS, providing a broad range of individualized supports, from navigating the routines of daily home life and job training and coaching to opportunities to access school, work, religious, and recreational activities, direct support professionals empower people with disabilities to fully participate in their communities; and

WHEREAS, direct support professionals provide essential supports that help individuals with disabilities stay connected to their families, friends, and communities; and

WHEREAS, direct support professionals support individuals with disabilities in making choices that lead to meaningful, productive, and successful lives in the community or in specialized residential care and avoid more costly institutional care.

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Nikki R. Haley, Governor of the great State of South Carolina, do hereby proclaim September 11 - 17, 2016, as

DIRECT SUPPORT PROFESSIONALS RECOGNITION WEEK

throughout the state and encourage all South Carolinians to honor our direct support professionals for their dedication and contributions that enhance the lives of individuals of all ages with disabilities.

NIKKI R. HALEY
GOVERNOR
STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

Attachment H

Beverly A. H. Buscemi, Ph.D.
State Director
David A. Goodell
Associate State Director
Operations
Susan Kreh Beck
Associate State Director
Policy
Thomas P. Waring
Associate State Director
Administration



3440 Harden Street Ext (29203) PO Box 4706, Columbia, South Carolina 29240 803/898-9600

> Toll Free: 888/DSN-INFO Website: www.ddsn.sc.gov

COMMISSION
William O. Danielson
Chairman
Eva R. Ravenel
Vice Chairman
Gary C. Lemel
Secretary
Mary Ellen Barnwell
Sam F. Broughton, Ph.D.
Catherine O. Fayssoux
Vicki A. Thompson

MEMORANDUM

Burry J. H. Busseni PMO

TO: Executive Directors/Chief Executive Officers

DSN Boards/Private Residential Providers

FROM: Beverly A. H. Buscemi, Ph.D.

State Director

DATE: August 31, 2016

RE: Medication Technician Certification

A large percentage of the individuals supported by your organization require prescribed medications to live healthy and happy lives. Consequently, medication administration is a crucial component of their care and an important responsibility of the provider. Generally, our system does a good job in management of medication administration as evidenced by medication error rates that are lower than those seen in nursing facilities and hospitals.

A major reason for our system's superior performance is the thorough training in medication administration received by staff. The majority of the residential providers partnering with DDSN train their staff in a DDSN approved Medication Technician program. DDSN has established detailed requirements for providers about this training in the Medication Technician Certification directive (603-13-DD). However, DDSN's increased monitorship in this area discovered that several providers have discontinued training staff in one of the approved programs. If your agency is currently allowing unlicensed staff who have not successfully completed a DDSN approved Medication Technician Certification program administer medications, they must stop doing so immediately.

A number of DDSN consumers are "self-administering" medications. In keeping with our mission to promote independence of the people we serve, this is a desirable outcome. However, it is essential that consumers deemed to be self-administering medication actually have the skills to accurately administer

DISTRICT II

Coastal Center - Phone: 843/873-5750 Pee Dee Center - Phone: 843/664-2600 Saleeby Center - Phone: 843/332-4104 Medication Technician Certification August 31, 2016 Page two

their medications before discontinuing staff assistance. Unlicensed staff having completed a DDSN approved Medication Technician Certification program can assist individuals learn to self-administer medications. However, assistance by unlicensed staff who have not completed approved training is not allowed. To better assure consistency in how individuals are assessed to be able to self-administer medications, DDSN is establishing a uniform assessment process to verify an individual's ability to independently administer medications.

The Medication Technician Certification directive is being revised to state requirements more clearly and improve this important aspect of care. If you have any questions about these issues or you need assistance in locating someone to offer Medication Technician Certification for your staff ,please contact David Goodell at (803) 898-9646 or dgoodell@ddsn.sc.gov.

Cc: David Goodell

Susan Beck John King Rufus Britt

Ann Dalton

36.7. (DDSN: Unlicensed Medication Providers) The provision of selected prescribed medications may be performed by selected unlicensed persons in community-based programs sponsored, licensed or certified by the South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs, provided such selected unlicensed persons have documented medication training and skill competency evaluation. Licensed nurses may train and supervise selected unlicensed persons to provide medications and, after reviewing competency evaluations, may approve selected unlicensed persons for the provision of medications. The provision of medications by selected unlicensed persons is limited to oral and topical medications and to regularly scheduled insulin and prescribed anaphylactic treatments under established medical protocol and does not include sliding scale insulin or other injectable medications. The selected unlicensed persons shall be protected against tort liability provided their actions are within the scope of their job duties and the established medical protocol.

The Department of Disabilities and Special Needs shall establish curriculum and standards for training and oversight.

This provision shall not apply to a facility licensed as an intermediate care facility for individuals with intellectual and/or related disability.

Attachment I

J16-9889 - Pee Dee Center - Pecan Dorms & Other Support Buildings - Roof Repair

Work Scope:

Building 201: Repairs, (Alternate Roof Recover);

Buildings 202-205: Roof Recover;

Administration Building, Health Services Building, Warehouse/Kitchen/Cafeteria: Repairs;

Activity Therapy: Through-wall flashing installation

Att	achm	ent
Alli	4CIIIII	ent

CONSIDERATION OF BIDS

PECAN DORMS / SUPPORT BUILDINGS – ROOF REPAIRS

PEE DEE CENTER

J16-9889

This project involves 1) Pecan Dorm 201: Repairs, (Alternate One: Roof Recover); 2) Pecan Dorms 202-205: Roof Recover; 3) Administration Building, Health Services Building, Warehouse/ Kitchen/Cafeteria: Repairs.

It is recommended that a contract be awarded for the Base Bid plus Alternate No. 1 to the lowest responsive and responsible bidder, **SOUTHERN ROOFING SERVICES**, **INC.** of **SUMTER**, **SOUTH CAROLINA** in the amount of \$249,872.00. While no problem is anticipated, permission is requested to award to the second low bidder should the low bidder be determined non-responsible.

BASE BID: \$ 229,917.00

ALTERNATE NO. ONE: <u>\$ 19.955.00</u>

CONTRACT AMOUNT: \$ 249,872.00

ATTACHMENT: Bid Tabulation

FUNDS: Excess Debt Service

BID DATE: 09/13/16

PROJECT NO.: J16-9889

PROJECT NAME: Pee Dee Center - Pecan Dorms & Other Support Buildings

PROJECT DESCRIPTION: Roof Repair

ARCHITECT/ENGINEER: Terracon Consultants, Inc.

BID DATE: Tuesday, 9/13/2016

TIME: 2:00 PM

LOCATION: SCDDSN, Central Office, Room 247

SCDDSN Engineering and Planning 3440 Harden St. Extension Columbia, SC 29203 Phone: (803) 898-9796 Fax: (803) 832-8188



BID TABULATION

	CONTRACTOR NAME	BID SEC	Addendum No. 1	BASE BID	ALTERNATE #1	TOTAL
1	Roofco	✓	✓	\$ 339,000.00	\$ 46,700.00	\$ 385,700.00
<u> </u>	Sumter, SC					
	Southern Roofing Services, Inc.	✓	✓	\$ 229,917.00	\$ 19,955.00	\$ 249,872.00
2	Sumter, SC					
3	Frizzell Construction Co., Inc d/b/a Summit BSR Roofing Bristol, TN	✓	✓	\$ 309,000.00	\$ 25,000.00	\$ 334,000.00
	Sunbelt Roofing Service, Inc.	✓	✓	\$ 255,000.00	\$ 32,300.00	\$ 287,300.00
4	Marion, SC				·	
	Tecta America Carolinas	√	√	WITHDRAWN	WITHDRAWN	\$ -
5	Indian Trail, NC					

Reed Marshall, Project Manager		
Witness		

Attac	hman	ŧ
Attac	nmen	τ

FEMA Grant Award

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs has been awarded grant funds to install emergency generators at 23 DDSN and Provider sites around the state. DDSN's grant project is a portion of Federal Emergency Management Agency's (FEMA) Federal Mitigation Grant Program resulting from 2014 Severe Winter Ice Storm (FEMA 4166-DR-SC). DDSN is a Sub-recipient of the grant awarded to South Carolina Emergency Management Division (SCEMD).

The estimated cost of DDSN's project to install emergency generators at 23 sites is **\$1,881,299.00**, to be cost shared **\$1,410,974.00** (75%) federal and **\$470,325.00** (25%) local.

The purpose of the emergency generators is to equip day program facilities with necessary emergency power capacity to provide shelter and safe haven for special needs individuals should power failures occur similar to power outages experienced during winter ice storms. In the event of power outages, the emergency power will be used for heating, cooling, lighting, minimal food preparation, medical equipment, communications, etc.

By investing in essential emergency power, FEMA, SCEMD, and DDSN seek to mitigate the life safety issues and costs associated with winter ice storm dangers, loss of power, and necessary relocation of special needs individuals.

At the time grant pre-applications were submitted in 2014, local providers indicated their willingness to provide the local match funding.

Attachment K

SC Department of Disabilities and Special Needs FY 2017 Monthly Financial Summary - Operating Funds Month Ended: August 31, 2016

	 eneral Fund	Medicaid Fund		Other Operating Funds		g Federal and Restricted Funds		Total	
FY 2016 Unreserved Cash	\$ 939,561	\$	527,877	\$	877,569	\$	16,190	\$	2,361,197 ¹
FY 2017 YTD Activity									
Receipts/Transfers									
Revenue	\$ 231,643,470	\$	59,996,847	\$	1,212,720	\$	137,163	\$	292,990,200
Interfund Transfers	\$ (25,000,000)	\$	25,000,000	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Total Receipts/Transfers	\$ 206,643,470	\$	84,996,847	\$	1,212,720	\$	137,163	\$	292,990,200
<u>Disbursements</u>									
Personal Services	\$ (7,783,409)	\$	(2,445,251)	\$	(5,848)	\$	(27,120)	\$	(10,261,628)
Fringe Benefits	\$ (3,371,326)	\$	(1,105,185)	\$	-	\$	(10,345)	\$	(4,486,856)
Other Operating Expense	\$ (23,495,080)	\$	(68,216,934)	\$	(19,487)	\$	(1)	\$	(91,731,502)
Capital Outlays	\$ -	\$	(45,488)	\$	-	\$	-	\$	(45,488)
Total Disbursements	\$ (34,649,815)	\$	(71,812,858)	\$	(25,335)	\$	(37,466)	\$	(106,525,474)
Outstanding Accounts Payable Balance	\$ (3,114,978)	\$	(1,685,726)	\$	(92,768)	\$	-	\$	(4,893,472)
Unreserved Cash Balance - 8/31/2016	\$ 169,818,238	\$	12,026,140	\$	1,972,186	\$	115,887	\$	183,932,451

 $^{^{1}}$ \$5,000,000 of the total cash balance has been reserved for future Medicaid Settlements

FM Budget vs Actual Author JGRANT Status of Data 9/9/2016 04:40:55 Chart Filter Information Balance Fiscal Budget Before Commitments and YTD Actual Expense year **Business area** Funded Program - Bud Original Budget Adjustments **Current Budget** Commitments Other Transactions **Remaining Balance** 2017 DDSN ADMINISTRATION \$ 7.278.969.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 7.278.969.00 \$ 1.128.523.37 \$ 6.150.445.63 \$ 1.116.980.57 \$ 5,033,465.06 PREVENTION PROGRAM \$ 257,098.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 257,098.00 \$5,000.00 \$ 252,098.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 252,098.00 GWOOD GENETIC CTR \$ 11,358,376.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 11,358,376.00 \$ 1,641,062.00 \$ 9,717,314.00 \$ 8,667,019.00 \$ 1,050,295.00 CHILDREN'S SERVICES \$ 14,859,135.00 \$ 7,251,183.00 \$ 22,110,318.00 \$3,105,782.33 \$ 19,004,535.67 \$ 34,693.68 \$ 18,969,841.99 BabyNet \$ 9,312,500.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 9,312,500.00 \$ 9,312,500.00 \$ 9,312,500.00 IN-HOME FAMILY SUPP \$ 102,211,827.00 -\$ 15,127,892.00 \$87,083,935.00 \$ 7,816,336.90 \$ 79,267,598.10 \$ 26,385,485.56 \$ 52,882,112.54 ADULT DEV&SUPP EMPLO \$ 67,475,832.00 \$ 12,398,929.00 \$ 79,874,761.00 \$ 15,287,781.77 \$ 64,586,979.23 \$ 0.00 \$ 64,586,979.23 SERVICE COORDINATION \$ 22,707,610.00 \$ 1,085.00 \$ 22,708,695.00 \$ 4,283,181.07 \$ 18,425,513.93 \$880,219.78 \$ 17,545,294.15 AUTISM SUPP PRG \$ 14,113,306.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 14,113,306.00 \$ 1,899,102.69 \$ 12,214,203.31 \$ 1,779,099.78 \$ 10,435,103.53 \$ 10,780,880.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 10,780,880.00 \$ 644,288.64 \$10,136,591.36 \$ 2,186,023.39 \$ 7,950,567.97 Pervasive Developmental Disorder Program (PDD) HD&SPINL CRD INJ COM \$3,040,532.00 \$ 673,210.00 \$ 3,713,742.00 \$ 496,197.02 \$ 3,217,544.98 \$ 0.00 \$ 3,217,544.98 REG CTR RESIDENT PGM \$ 73,912,065.00 \$ 295,264.00 \$ 74,207,329.00 \$ 10,054,336.06 \$ 64,152,992.94 \$ 8,087,076.83 \$ 56,065,916.11 HD&SPIN CRD INJ FAM \$ 26,258,987.00 \$ 856,490.00 \$ 27,115,477.00 \$ 2,872,575.11 \$ 24,242,901.89 \$ 9,142,004.15 \$ 15,100,897.74 **AUTISM COMM RES PRO** \$ 23,557,609.00 \$ 0.00 \$ 23,557,609.00 \$ 3,676,429.48 \$ 19,881,179.52 \$ 134,432.84 \$ 19,746,746.68 INTELL DISA COMM RES \$ 311,439,097.00 -\$ 5,486,122.00 \$ 305,952,975.00 \$ 54,018,785.50 \$ 251,934,189.50 \$ 50,175,390.35 \$ 201,758,799.15 STATEWIDE CF APPRO \$ 475,410.19 \$ 475,410.19 \$ 475,410.19 \$ 475,410.19 STATE EMPLOYER CONTR \$ 29,857,979.00 \$ 150,656.00 \$ 30,008,635.00 \$ 4,486,855.70 \$ 25,521,779.30 \$ 0.00 \$ 25,521,779.30 **DUAL EMPLOYMENT** \$ 2,708.34 -\$ 2,708.34 -\$ 2,708.34 Result \$ 728,421,802.00 \$ 1,488,213.19 \$ 729,910,015.19 \$ 111,418,945.98 \$ 618,491,069.21 \$ 108,588,425.93 \$ 509,902,643.28

South Carolina Department of Disabilities and Special Needs Analysis of Expenditures July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016 Regional Centers

Description	Annual Budget			YTD Expenditures	YTD Balance	% Expended	
Personal Services	\$	51,553,158	\$	50,087,941	\$ 1,465,217	97%	
Other Operating	\$	14,818,565	\$	14,865,746	\$ (47,181)	100%	
Total Regional Centers	\$	66,371,723	\$	64,953,687	\$ 1,418,036	98%	
Personal Services	\$	11,265,887	\$	10,603,760	\$ 662,127	94%	
Other Operating	\$	3,508,079	\$	3,475,621	\$ 32,458	99%	
Total Midlands Center	\$	14,773,966	\$	14,079,381	\$ 694,585	95%	
Personal Services	\$	14,970,456	\$	14,880,388	\$ 90,068	99%	
Other Operating	\$	4,414,160	\$	4,339,221	\$ 74,939	98%	
Total Whitten Center	\$	19,384,616	\$	19,219,609	\$ 165,007	99%	
Personal Services	\$	11,774,270	\$	11,245,773	\$ 528,497	96%	
Other Operating	\$	3,291,979	\$	3,345,304	\$ (53,325)	102%	
Total Coastal Center	\$	15,066,249	\$	14,591,077	\$ 475,172	97%	
Personal Services	\$	13,542,545	\$	13,358,020	\$ 184,525	99%	
Other Operating	\$	3,604,347	\$	3,705,600	\$ (101,253)	103%	
Total Pee Dee Center	\$	17,146,892	\$	17,063,620	\$ 83,272	100%	